
Geoff Little OBE
Chief Executive

Our Ref LW
Your Ref OSC/LW
Date 20 November 2018
Contact Leigh Webb
Direct Line 0161 253 5399
E-mail l.m.webb@bury.gov.uk
Web Site www.bury.gov.uk

TO: All Members of Council

Councillors : N Bayley, J Black, S Briggs, R Caserta, R.Cathcart, 
P Cropper, T Cummings, M D'Albert, J Daly, I Gartside, J Grimshaw, 
D Gunther, M Hankey, S Haroon, J Harris, M Hayes, R Hodkinson, T Holt, 
K Hussain, M James, D Jones, N Jones, G Keeley, J Kelly, O Kersh, 
K Leach, A McKay, S Nuttall, E O'Brien, T Pickstone, C Preston, A Quinn, 
T Rafiq, I Schofield, R Shori, D Silbiger, A Simpson, R Skillen, S Smith, 
Sarah Southworth, Susan Southworth, T Tariq, K Thomas, J Walker, 
R Walker, S Walmsley, M Whitby, S Wright and Y Wright

Dear Member/Colleague

Council

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Council which will be held as follows:-

Date: Wednesday, 28 November 2018

Place: Council Chamber - Town Hall

Time: 7.00 pm

Briefing

Facilities:

If Opposition Members and Co-opted Members 
require briefing on any particular item on the 
Agenda, the appropriate Director/Senior Officer 
originating the related report should be 
contacted.

Notes:

AGENDA

The Agenda for the meeting is attached. 

Reports are enclosed only for those attending the meeting and for those without access 
to the Council’s Intranet or Website.

Legal & Democratic Services
Division

Jayne Hammond LLB (Hons) Solicitor
Assistant Director of Legal & 

Democratic Services

Town Hall
Knowsley Street
Bury  BL9 0SW
www.bury.gov.uk

Electronic service of legal 
documents accepted only at:

E-mail: legal.services@bury.gov.uk
Fax: 0161 253 5119



The Agenda and Reports are available on the Council's Intranet for Councillors and 
Officers and also on the Council’s Website at www.bury.gov.uk – click on Agendas, 
Minutes and Forward Plan.

Copies of printed reports can also be obtained on request by contacting the Democratic 
Services Officer named above.

Yours sincerely

Chief Executive

http://www.bury.gov.uk/


AGENDA

1 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

Members of the Council are requested to declare any interests which they have 
in any items or issues before the Council for determination.

2 MINUTES  (Pages 1 - 12)

Minutes of the last meeting, held on 12 September 2018, are attached.

3 MAYORAL COMMUNICATIONS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS  

To receive communications from the Mayor and any announcements by the 
Leader of the Council or the Chief Executive on matters of interest to the 
Council.

4 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  

To answer questions from members of the public, notice of which has been 
given, on any matter relevant to the Council or its services to the community. 
Up to 30 minutes will be set aside for this purpose. If time permits, further 
questions will be invited from members of the public present.

5 RECOMMENDATIONS OF CABINET AND COUNCIL COMMITTEES  (Pages 13 
- 138)

Committee/
Date

Subject      Recommendation

Licensing and 
Safety Panel 
– 17 October 
2018

Gambling Act 2005 – 
Statement of 
Principles (Report 
attached). 

That the amended Statement of 
Principles, as set out in the report, be 
accepted without amendment and 
submitted to Full Council on 28 
November 2018, for agreement.

Democratic 
Arrangements 
Forum – 13 
November 
2018

Council Procedure 
Rules

That the Constitution be amended to 
change the deadline for Questions from 
Members to the Leader to six clear 
working days before the meeting. 

Cabinet – 14 
November 
2018

Risk Management 
Annual Report 
(Report attached)

That support be given for the Council’s 
approach to Risk Management, and the 
progress made throughout 2017/18 and 
actions planned for 2018/19 be noted.

Cabinet – 14 
November 
2018

Mid Year Treasury 
Management Report 
(Report attached)

That in accordance with CIPFA’s Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management, the 
report be noted and forwarded for 
consideration at the next meeting of full 
Council scheduled to take place on 28th 
November 2018.



Cabinet – 14 
November 
2018

Community Safety 
Plan
(Report attached)

Cabinet agrees to note the contents of 
the Plan and its priorities and 
recommends to Council that the Plan 
and its priorities be approved for 
inclusion in the Council’s Policy 
Framework.

6 LEADER' STATEMENT AND CABINET QUESTION TIME  (Pages 139 - 158)

To receive a Statement from the Leader of the Council on the work of the 
Cabinet and to answer written questions from Members of the Council to the 
Leader and Cabinet Members on any matter in relation to which the Council has 
powers or duties which affect the Borough, provided the necessary written 
notice has been given.

Verbal questions on the work of the Cabinet since the last Council meeting will 
be allowed subject to a limit of one question per Councillor.

7 JOINT AUTHORITIES - REPORT BY THE COUNCIL'S REPRESENTATIVE 
AND QUESTIONS  (Pages 159 - 164)

(A)A report from the Council’s representative on the work of Transport for 
Greater Manchester, Councillor Bayley.

(B)Questions (if any) on the work of the Joint Authorities to be asked by 
Members of the Council for which the necessary notice has been given 
in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11.2.

8 COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME  (Pages 165 - 170)

Report attached.

9 NOTICES OF MOTION  

The following Notices of Motion have been received:-

(i) Planning Policy 

THIS COUNCIL notes:

The evolving Greater Manchester Spatial Framework and the present 
consultation on the Bury Local Plan that closes on the 30th November.
In the coming months and years it is highly likely that developers will 
submit planning applications for large scale development within the 
Borough which will massively impact on our road infrastructure and the 
provision of school places within Bury.
Within the Town and Country Act 1990, section 106 allows a local 
planning authority to enter into a legally-binding agreement or planning 
obligation as a way of delivering or addressing matters that are necessary 
to make a development acceptable in planning terms. Education and 
school places provision together with local road infrastructure are clearly 
necessary planning requirements for large scale development within the 
Borough.
It is highly concerning that Bury MBC has no set policy to address these 



issues within our planning framework.

THIS COUNCIL resolves:

1. To request the Chief Planning Officer produce a draft policy to enable a 
standardised approach for calculating education 106 agreements seeking 
to make development acceptable in terms of education by ensuring that 
the need for additional pupil places generated by new developments are 
mitigated by developer contribution. That this report be available for 
Council to consider and vote upon at the next full meeting of Council and 
if acceptable that it should be included in the Bury Local Plan.

2. To request the Chief Planning Officer produce a draft policy to enable a 
standardised approach for calculating road infrastructure 106 agreements 
seeking to make development acceptable in terms of highways by 
ensuring that the significant extra road usage which flows from 
developments of over 25 dwellings and the substantial long term 
maintenance costs to the taxpayer are mitigated by developer 
contribution. . That this report be available for Council to consider and 
vote upon at the next full meeting of Council and if acceptable that it 
should be included in the Bury Local Plan.

3. To ensure these policies are implemented in a transparent way and to 
ensure full public confidence in the planning process within the Borough 
to impose a requirement that for all development of over 25 dwelling the 
viability assessment provided by the developer be made public.

In the names of Councillors R Caserta, P Cropper, J Daly, I 
Gartside, D Gunther, M Hankey, J Harris, R Hodkinson, K Hussain, 
N Jones, G Keeley, O Kersh, S Nuttall,  I Schofield, D Silbiger,  R 
Walker, and Y Wright

(ii) Homes Fit for the Future

This Council notes:

1 The long overdue announcement by Government of a relaxation in 
the Housing Revenue Account borrowing cap potentially allowing 
local councils to build more new council housing. 

2      The need for more, high quality, affordable homes within the 
Borough. 

3      Current strategies, at a national and Greater Manchester level, to 
address carbon emissions, air pollution, and in support of active 
travel. 

This Council believes: 

1 That every effort should be made to ensure that new homes that are 



build should be ‘fit for the future’, which should include:

- Low carbon energy efficiency homes, with solar panels, underfloor 
heating, and high quality insulation, doors and windows - both 
reducing carbon emissions and future fuel costs. 
- Clean air, with electric charging potential ‘designed-in’ and 
sustainable street trees on new roads as a norm. 
- Active lives built in, with high quality cycling provision and ‘child-
friendly’ low speed or shared space a standard for new residential 
roads. 

2 That in new homes that we as an Authority have a role in building 
should endeavour to set high standards for the future as set out 
above

This Council therefore resolves:

1 To play our role as a future builder of homes, by ensuring that new 
homes that we build, directly or in partnership with others, meet 
the standards set out above and set an example to others. 

2 To ask the Cabinet to receive an update on this issue during the 
2019-20 municipal year. 

In the names of Councillors M D’Albert, T Pickstone and S Wright.

(iii) Police Funding
 
This Council notes:-

 The increasing pressures facing Greater Manchester Police (GMP) and 
acknowledges that, like other police forces, GMP is reaching breaking 
point, with unprecedented levels of cuts since 2010. 

 That although the announcement by GM Deputy Mayor with responsibility 
for Police, Bev Hughes, that an additional 100 officers will be allocated 
across GM through the Police precept is welcome, the Government’s lack 
of consideration for the Police service during the recent budget 
announcement is disappointing.  

•That with a forecast reduction of 24% in overall staffing numbers and a 
20 per cent reduction in officers Greater Manchester, the Police have 
suffered disproportionately from the nationwide cuts to Police resources. 
In stark terms that equates to around 2,000 fewer Police Officers than in 
2010, and for Bury    that has meant a loss of about 50 Police officers. 

 That it is important for GMP to maintain a visible community safety 
presence in   our neighbourhoods, maximize the number of Police 
Officers, prioritise service improvements and ring-fence our community 
safety fund.

• That demand for GMP has gone up significantly as they are now having to 
deal with more recorded and complex crimes. The latest Home Office 
statistics show that in the 12 months to the end of June 2017, GMP 
recorded 294,581 crimes. This is an increase of 31% on the previous 12 
months. 



•That this this already bleak picture is compounded by the recent request 
from the Treasury for Police Forces to meet the £420m Pension bill, on 
top of the 19% cut in Police funding since 2010, would mean an 
estimated 10,000 fewer Police officers on Britain’s streets. This has 
culminated in the National Police Chiefs' Council threatening legal action 
against the Government.

•The Police grant settlement we have been receiving from the Government 
has not been sufficient, and has meant a significant shortfall on the 
policing budget for GMP. This has meant the need for the precept level to 
be raised to £12 for the 2018/19 financial year, thereby imposing the 
funding shortfall on every Greater Manchester resident. 

This Council resolves:- 

•To call on the Government to accept that Policing across the country is 
underfunded and recognise that despite this no additional funds were 
made available in the recent budget settlement.

 
•To call upon the Leader of the Council, the Leaders of all Political Groups, 
the Members of Parliament for Bury North and Bury South and the Mayor 
for Greater Manchester to write to the Home Secretary to request a 
review of the Police Grant settlement so that Greater Manchester can 
receive a fair settlement from Government and not have to place this 
burden on Greater Manchester taxpayers, many of whom are already 
struggling due to Government cuts.

In the names of Councillors N Bayley, J Black, S Briggs, R
Cathcart, A Cummings, J Grimshaw, M Hayes, S Haroon, T Holt, M
James, D Jones, J Kelly, K Leach, G McGill, E O’Brien, C Preston, A
Quinn, T Rafiq, R Shori, A Simpson, R Skillen, L Smith, S Smith,
Sarah Southworth, Susan Southworth, T Tariq, K Thomas, J

         Walker, S Walmsley and M Whitby.

10  SCRUTINY REVIEW REPORTS AND SPECIFIC ITEMS "CALLED IN" BY 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEES  

11  QUESTIONS ON THE WORK OF OUTSIDE BODIES OR PARTNERSHIPS  

Questions on the work of Outside Bodies or partnerships on which the Council is 
represented to be asked by Members of the Council (if any).

12  DELEGATED DECISIONS OF THE COUNCIL COMMITTEES  

Questions on the delegated decisions made by the Regulatory Committees and 
Scrutiny Committees contained in the Digest of Decision 3 published  since the 
last ordinary meeting of the Council, providing four clear working days’ notices 
has been given of the question.

Members are asked to bring to the meeting their copy of Digest 3.



This page is intentionally left blank



103

Minutes of: AN ORDINARY MEETING OF THE COUNCIL 

Date of Meeting: 12 September 2018

Present: The Worshipful the Mayor (Councillor J Black), in the Chair; 
Councillors N Bayley,  R A Caserta, R Cathcart, P Cropper, A J 
Cummings, M D’Albert, J Daly, I Gartside, J Grimshaw, D L 
Gunther, S Haroon, J Harris, M Hayes,  R Hodkinson, T Holt, K 
Hussain, M A James, D Jones, N Jones, G Keeley, J Kelly, O 
Kersh,  G McGill, A McKay, S Nuttall,  E O’Brien, T D Pickstone, 
C Preston, A Quinn, T Rafiq, I Schofield, R Shori, D Silbiger, R 
Skillen, Sarah Southworth, Susan Southworth, L Smith, S 
Smith, T Tariq, J Walker,  R E Walker, S Walmsley, M Whitby, 
S Wright and Y Wright.

Apologies from:   Councillors K S Briggs, K Leach, M Hankey, A Simpson and 
  K Thomas.

Public attendance: 17 members of the public attended the meeting  
_______________________________________________________________

C.154 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

1. Councillor D Jones and Councillor S Wright declared personal interests in any 
matter relating to staffing as their wives are employed in Bury Schools. 
Councillor D Jones further declared a personal interest in the Notice of Motion 
relating to Academisation as the Chair of a Multi Academy Trust.

2. Councillors Shori declared a personal interest in relation to Item 6, Leader’s 
Question Time as his partner works for the NHS. 

3. Councillors I Gartside and S Smith declared a personal interests in relation to 
the Notice of Motion concerning Academisation as Governors at Academy 
Schools.

4. Councillor N Jones declared a personal interests in relation to the Notice of 
Motion concerning Academisation as a Governor at a school considering 
applying for Academy status.

5.      Councillor Rafiq declared a personal interest in the Notice of Motion relating to 
Academisation as a Member of a Multi Academy Trust.

6. Councillor L Smith declared a personal interest in Item 6, Leader’s Question 
Time, as her husband is employed in the NHS.

7. Councillor  Hodkinson declared a personal and prejudicial interest in the Notice 
of Motion relating to School Uniform Costs as the owner of a School Wear shop 
and left the meeting during consideration of this item.

Document Pack Page 1 Agenda Item 2



104

C.155 MINUTES 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the Meeting of Council held on 12 July 2018 be signed by the 
Mayor as a true and correct record.

C.156 MAYORAL COMMUNICATIONS

The Mayor reported to Council on the recent election of Councillor Lucy Smith 
(Besses Ward) and Councillor Gavin McGill (East Ward) at by-elections held since the 
last meeting of Council.

The Mayor congratulated Re-Build; the Joshua Wilson Brain Tumour Charity; 
Annabelles’s Challenge; and the New Springs Community Project who had all been 
awarded the Queens Award for Voluntary Service. 

The Mayor made reference to recent celebrations in respect of Pakistani 
Independence Day and the Jewish New Year

The Mayor reported on the recent death of ex-Councillor Keith Rothwell. Members 
stood in silence as a mark of respect to Mr Rothwell.

The Mayor informed the meeting that she had agreed to the consideration of an 
Urgent item of business relating to Fracking.

C.157      ORDER OF BUSINESS

      Under Standing Order 13.7, it was moved by Councillor Shori and seconded by 
Councillor Kelly and it was:-

      Resolved:

      That the order of business be changed to consider the Fracking Notice of Motion as 
the first agenda item.

      
C.158 NOTICE OF MOTION (URGENT)

FRACKING

An Urgent Notice of Motion had been received in the names of:

 Councillors N Bayley, J Black, S Briggs, R Cathcart, A Cummings, J 
Grimshaw, M Hayes, S Haroon, T Holt, M James, D Jones, J Kelly, K Leach, G 
McGill, E O’Brien, C Preston, A Quinn, T Rafiq, R Shori, A Simpson, R Skillen, 
L Smith, S Smith, Sarah Southworth, Susan Southworth, T Tariq, K Thomas, 
J Walker, S Walmsley and M Whitby.

It was moved by Councillor Shori and seconded by Councillor Kelly that:-

Document Pack Page 2



105

This Council Notes:

The continuing and growing public concern that shale gas extraction – commonly 
known as fracking – poses significant risks to the environment and to the health 
and wellbeing of our communities. These concerns include earth tremors, 
potential air pollution, pollution of water resources and increased industrialisation 
of the countryside, not to mention the detrimental impact on house prices and 
local businesses.

There is already insufficient regulation and scrutiny of fracking operations in the 
UK. Alarmingly, the Government is now proposing to further reduce regulation 
and control over fracking with their proposals to:

1.) Treat the initial exploratory drilling for shale gas as permitted development, which 
would mean that no planning permission would be required for the engineering 
work that investigates the presence of shale gas and whether it is commercially 
viable to extract it; and

2.) That proposals for the commercial extraction of shale gas should be determined 
by the Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects Regime (NSIP), which would 
mean that planning applications would be submitted to this body for consideration 
rather than the Council (as the Local Planning Authority).

The consultation on these proposals ends in October 2018.

Currently, both the exploratory drilling and the actual large scale extraction of shale 
gas both need planning permission, determined by Local Planning Authorities. It is 
considered that Local Planning Authorities are best placed to consider such 
developments against the effects on the local environment and economy, taking full 
account of the legitimate concerns of local residents. Given the lack of regulation 
around fracking elsewhere, the planning application process is one of the only 
opportunities that local residents and businesses can have their say.
Should the Government’s proposals go ahead, this would mean that the initial drilling 
for shale gas would be treated in the same way as something as trivial as erecting a 
garden fence or a small house extension. Given the significant environmental and 
health concerns associated with this industry, this should be resisted by this Council.

That this Council voted in favour of a Labour Group Motion to ban fracking on 
Council owned land in July 2016.

This Council Believes:

  Proposals to remove local democracy and accountability from the determination 
of large scale industrial development of shale gas extraction should also be 
resisted. 

  The determination of such proposals should remain with Local Planning 
Authorities, who are able to take full account of the views of local communities 
and make decisions that impact on their local environments – not some 
unaccountable body that has no local knowledge of Bury or elsewhere for that 
matter.

   It is the duty of the Council to protect the health and wellbeing of residents and 
the integrity of our natural environment and to play its part in supporting 
sustainable energy for future generations. 

Document Pack Page 3



106

Therefore, in accordance with this duty, this Council Resolves to:-

 Demand for the withdrawal of these proposals and work with the borough’s 
Members of Parliament and Greater Manchester Mayor to lobby for a change in 
the Government’s position.

 Request an urgent meeting between the Rt Hon. James Brokenshire MP as the 
relevant Secretary of State and representatives from Bury Council to detail the 
potential environmental, economic and health impacts on the residents of this 
borough.

On being put, with 45 for voting for, 0 voting against, and with the Mayor 
abstaining, the Mayor declared the motion carried.

(Note: This item which did not appear on the Summons for the meeting 
was allowed by the Mayor to be considered as a matter of urgency in 
order to enable the Council to debate the issue within the consultation 
period).

C.159 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 

On inviting questions from members of the public present, the following issues were 
raised:-

No. Issue Questioner Answered By 

1. Fracking Mr P Fillery Councillor Shori

2. Polling Station 
Intimidation

Ms A Hussain Councillor Shori

  
C.160 RECOMMENDATIONS OF CABINET AND COUNCIL COMMITTEES 

There were no recommendations of Cabinet or Council Committees before Council. 

C.161 LEADER'S STATEMENT AND CABINET QUESTION TIME

(a) Written question (Notice given)

 The Leader of the Council, Councillor Shori, made a statement on the work 
undertaken by him since the date of the last Council meeting.
 
 The Leader and the relevant Cabinet Members answered questions raised by 
Councillors on the following issues:  

No. Issue Questioner Answered by

1. Bury Street Support 
Website

Councillor McGill Councillor O’Brien

2. Protection of Tenants  Councillor Hayes Councillor O’Brien

3. 3G/4G Football Pitches Councillor Gartside Councillor Quinn

Document Pack Page 4



107

4. Fuel Poverty Councillor Skillen Councillor O’Brien

5. Medium Term Financial 
Strategy

Councillor L Smith Councillor O’Brien

6. Empty Properties Councillor Gunther Councillor O’Brien

7. Fair Funding Review Councillor Rafiq Councillor O’Brien

8. Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework

Councillor Pickstone Councillor O’Brien

9. Traveller Sites Councillor Harris Councillor Quinn

10. Debt Collection Councillor Preston Councillor O’Brien

11. Safeguarding 
Inspection

Councillor Cummings Councillor Cathcart

12. Road Surface 
Condition

Councillor Kersh Councillor Quinn

13. Domestic Violence Councillor Grimshaw Councillor Tariq

Due to the lack of time to answer questions 14 to 25 inclusive, the Leader gave an 
undertaking that copies of those questions and responses will be circulated to all             
Councillors. The Leader also gave an undertaking to make these available on the 
Council Web Site.             

(b) Oral questions on Leader’s Speech and the work of the Cabinet since 
the last Council meeting (without Notice)

1. Events on High Holy Days Councillor Kersh Councillor Shori

2. Investigation Costs  Councillor Caserta Councillor Shori

3. Cost of By-Elections Councillor N Jones Councillor Shori

4. Use of Council Owned Fields 
by Sports Clubs

Councillor Daly Councillor Quinn

C.162 REVIEW OF COUNCIL CONSTITUTION – OFFICER DELEGATIONS

It was moved by Councillor Shori and seconded by Councillor Kelly and it was:-

Resolved:

1) That the Officer Delegations set out in Part 3 of the Council's Constitution be 
amended in line with Appendix A attached to the report and be adopted with 
immediate effect.
 

2) That authority be delegated to the Chief Executive and Assistant Director – Legal 
and Democratic Services to make any future amendments to the scheme that are 

Document Pack Page 5



108

consequential on the current allocation of service responsibilities being revised, 
new service responsibilities being introduced, or post titles changing.

C.163 TRANSPORT FOR GREATER MANCHESTER COMMITTEE GOVERNANCE AND 
               APPOINTMENTS UPDATE

It was moved by Councillor Shori and seconded by Councillor Kelly and it was:-

Resolved:

1) That the size of TfGMC as 23 members be approved.
2) That it be noted that each Authority is required to appoint 1 member to TfGMC, 

save for MCC to appoint 2 members and nominate 1 member to be appointed by 
GMCA to ensure political balance.

3) That it be noted that the remaining 2 appointments are 1 member appointed by 
GMCA and 1 member appointed by the Mayor.

4) That Councillor Shori be appointed to TfGMC.
5) That Councillor Bayley be nominated to be appointed to TfGMC by the Combined 

Authority
6) That the nomination of Councillor Roy Walker to TfGMC by the Greater Manchester 

Conservatives be noted.
7) Council agree to the amendment of the Operating Agreement to reflect these 

changes
8) That it be noted that the Terms of Reference will be reviewed to ensure that they 

reflect the Mayor’s current transport powers with a further review in 2019/20 to 
reflect proposed powers.

9)That Council confirms and notes the appointments and amendments to    
appointments made since the Annual meeting of Council as set out in paragraph 
2.2.

C.164 JOINT AUTHORITIES – REPORTS BY THE COUNCIL’S REPRESENTATIVE AND 
QUESTIONS 

(a) Councillor Tariq, the Council’s representative on the Greater Manchester Police 
and Crime Panel reported on the work of the Panel to all Members of the 
Council. 

(b) The following questions had been received in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule 11.2. 

No. Issue Questioner Answered by

1. Rosso 91 Bus Service Councillor Cropper Councillor Bayley 
(Representative on 
Transport for Greater 
Manchester)

2. Bury Interchange Councillor Gunther  Written Response

C.165 NOTICES OF MOTION 

(i) School Uniform Costs

Document Pack Page 6



109

               A motion had been received and set out in the Summons in the names of:

      In the names of Councillors M D’Albert; T Pickstone and S Wright

It was moved by Councillor D’Albert and seconded by Councillor Pickstone that:-

  The Council Notes:

1  Increasing costs, in many schools, of school uniforms, sports kits and     
other‘voluntary’ extra costs, which place an unnecessary extra burden on many   
families.

2 The practice in some schools of single suppliers of key items of uniform
   and/or sports kit, meaning parents cannot take advantage of lower price
   uniforms and sports kit items.

    3 The Report by the Children’s Society in 2014 which identified that the total spend    
in Bury on school ‘extras’ by parents was £19,545,547.

    4 The same report concluded that 3 million families in the UK are struggling     to     
pay for school uniforms and school ‘extras’, an estimated 13,374 in Bury.

5  That 30% of children in the UK are living in poverty.

      This Council supports the Children’s Society in its recommendations:

1  That, as a first step, Government, should reissue existing school uniform
    guidance to all schools to ensure all schools are aware of the guidance
    and remind them of their responsibilities in relation to the affordability
    and availability of school uniforms.
2  That the government should make the guidance on school uniforms
    statutory so schools have a legally binding commitment to comply with
    this and make uniform cost a top priority.
3  Finally, that the government should explore capping the cost of school
    uniforms to ensure that parents are not paying unreasonable costs.

This Council resolves:

1 To work with the Bury family of schools to address the issue of school
   uniform and ‘extras’ costs to minimise their impact on Bury families, and
   make sure schools are aware of existing guidance on this issue.

  2 To consult, during the 2018-19 school year, with Governing Bodies on a
   new ‘Bury Guidance’ on school uniform pricing and ‘extra costs’
3 To publish, in time for the start of the 2019-20 school year, Bury policy
   guidance on school uniform pricing and extra charges made by schools.
4 To publish annually on the Council’s website (from the start of the 2019-
   20 school year), which schools in the borough are meeting the guidance
   on charging and which are not.

    It was moved by Councillor Cathcart and seconded by Councillor J Walker as an 
amendment to:-

Delete point 4:

“To publish annually on the Council’s website (from the start of the 2019-20 school 
year), which schools in the borough are meeting the guidance on charging and which 
are not.”

Document Pack Page 7



110

Add: 
“To monitor the implementation of schools that are meeting the guidance through 
the School inclusion clusters so that schools take responsibility for themselves for 
becoming inclusive.  Subject to this being reviewed after 12 months.  This would 
help with relations with the LA as they transition into their clusters.” 

 On being put, with 39 voting for, 4 against and with the Mayor 
abstaining, the Mayor declared the amendment carried. 

On being put, with 43 voting for, 0 against and with the Mayor 
abstaining, the Mayor declared the substantive motion carried.

(ii) Tackling Obesity

A motion had been received and set out in the Summons in the names of:

Councillors R Caserta, P Cropper, J Daly, I Gartside, D Gunther, M 
Hankey, J Harris, R Hodkinson, K Hussain, N Jones, G Keeley, O Kersh, S 
Nuttall,  I Schofield, D Silbiger,  R Walker, and Y Wright

It was moved by Councillor Daly and seconded by Councillor R E Walker that:

In Bury 64.3% of the adult population are living with excess weight. High
levels of excess weight are also prevalent amongst the children of Bury
with 24% of Bury reception children are overweight or obese and 36.2%
of year 6 children. These worrying trends are increasing and the
prevalence of overweight children is correlated to areas of higher
deprivation

Obesity is a complex issue and requires a multifaceted approach. One
element of the approach is working together to limit the over proliferation
of hot food takeaways but other action must also be considered.
Between 2010 and 2018 Bury saw a significant increase in the numbers of
fast food outlets, rising from 90 to 215 with a greater concentration in
more deprived areas.

Whilst acknowledging the work already done by the Public Health Team
and Planners within the authority, Bury must consider the development of
policies and planning guidance to be included within the Bury Local Plan
and Greater Manchester Spatial Framework:

THIS COUNCIL therefore resolves:

1. To include within the emerging Bury Local Plan a 400m restriction zone
    for new hot food takeaways surrounding secondary schools - limiting
    children's access to unhealthy food and recommend this measure be
    included in the GMSF.
 2. To include within the emerging Bury Local Plan a requirement that applications     

for new hot food takeaways within wards where more than 15 % of year 6 
pupils and 10 % of reception pupils are classed as obese be refused and 
recommend this measure be included within the GMSF.

3.  To include within the emerging Bury Local Plan a duty that Bury
     planners must prevent the clustering of hot food takeaways in deprived
     neighbourhoods and recommend such a duty be included in the GMSF.
4.  To support the GM Moving Strategy by instructing the Chief Executive

Document Pack Page 8



111

     to write to all Headteachers and Chair of Governors within the Borough
     asking all schools that have not signed up already to the Daily Mile to do
     so by December 31st 2018.
5.  To request the appropriate cabinet member and officers work with
     schools and voluntary organisations to ensure all children within the
     Borough have access to high class sporting facilities, coaching and
     equipment to encourage an active lifestyle.
6.  To encourage residents no matter their age or background to start
     walking as part of active lifestyle and as part of this strategy each
     Councillor will publicise and lead at least one Health Walk in their
     respective wards before the end of the municipal year.
7.  To build upon the success of the Bury East Healthy Eating Project and
     Healthy Voucher Scheme, instructing the Leader to report back to the
     next Full Meeting of Council with proposals to extend the scheme to other
     areas within the Borough.

On being put, with 43 for voting for, 0 voting against, and with the Mayor 
abstaining, the Mayor declared the motion carried.  

(iii) Academisation

                   A motion had been received and set out in the Summons in the names of:

Councillors N Bayley, J Black, S Briggs, R Cathcart, A Cummings, J 
Grimshaw, M Hayes, S Haroon, T Holt, M James, D Jones, J Kelly, K Leach, 
G McGill, E O’Brien, C Preston, A Quinn, T Rafiq, R Shori, A Simpson, R 
Skillen, L Smith, S Smith, Sarah Southworth, Susan Southworth, T Tariq, 
K Thomas, J Walker, S Walmsley and M Whitby.

It was moved by Councillor L Smith and seconded by Councillor Cathcart that:-

     This Council Notes:-

1. Bury schools have demonstrated a good track record of delivering
    education within the local authority and have not chosen or moved to the
    Academy model or alternative forms of governance at the rate of other
    Local Authority areas.
2. An increasingly high volume of schools in Bury previously judged by
   Ofsted as good or outstanding several years go under a different
   inspection framework are now being downgraded in their new inspection.
   There are a high proportion of such ‘legacy’ schools, and a number at
   significant risk of being judged as inadequate.
3. The findings for the SEND inspection in June 2017 have put Bury schools
    under additional focus from Ofsted
4. Ofsted’s annual risk assessment of school performance and standards
   data and specifically in relation to pupils’ achievement, exclusions and
    attendance, groups of pupils particularly those with SEND, the most able,
    and disadvantaged groups, places a high number of Bury schools at risk
    of inspection quicker than might normally be expected.
5. School leaders and governors are now expected to source their own
    school improvement services and solutions. Schools and council school
    improvement services are currently under financial pressure due to cuts
    from central government.
6. Government policy on forced academisation has recently changed –
    schools that are judged to be requiring improvement by Ofsted will no

Document Pack Page 9



112

    longer be given an academy order. This will now only apply to schools
    rated as inadequate.
7. Academisation is an irreversible process. Once a school becomes an
    Academy, there is currently no mechanism to return the school to local
    authority control.
8. There is a legal obligation to consult with appropriate stakeholders in the
    case of voluntary conversions. DfE guidance states “Your governing body
    must consult formally about your school’s plans to become an academy
    with anyone who has an interest in your school. This will include staff
    members and parents, but you should also involve pupils and the wider
    community.”
9. Bury Council recognises a number of trade unions as representatives of
    staff in education sector.

This Council Believes:-

1. The Council should focus on strengthening the governance of all schools
    in Bury.
2. The Council will approach schools before “they fail” to try and determine
    the best form of governance going forward, through annual risk
    assessment processes conducted by Council officers.
3. There will be a focus on finding a local solution for schools that need
    additional support that will take in to account what is best for the young
    people of Bury.
4. Academisation is one option but not the only option to the many
    challenges faced by Bury schools leaders. The LA will be proactive in
    working with governors to explore what the best solutions might be for
    individual schools, and particularly those ‘at risk’ where standards have
    declined or in decline.
5. Any change in the governance of schools needs to be done in full
    consultation with parents, pupils and staff.
6. To that end, there should be full and meaningful consultation that fully
    engages parents, staff and their recognised trade unions, pupils, feeder
    schools, the local authority and other members of the community and
    allows them the opportunity to hear both sides of the argument and
    express their views.
7. That other options such as a local federation with other Bury schools
    should be actively considered by governors before academisation with an
    external academy chain.
8. Trade unions that are recognised by the local authority as     representatives of     

staff should be involved at every stage of any consultation process.
9. The Council will co-produce with schools a policy that sets out what good
    consultation should involve when a change of governance is being
    explored.

This Council Resolves:-

1. To publish a Bury Council Policy for voluntary conversions including but
not limited to:-

Discussions must take place with both the local authority and union
representatives at the earliest possible moment in the governors’
considerations.

Where a governing body does decide it would like to formally

Document Pack Page 10



113

consider alternative governance arrangements, a timetable for
consultation and a consultation document with a clear rationale and
evidence for how the preferred option will result in school
improvement and higher educational attainment should be
provided before the consultation can begin.

Where the governors have identified that they would like to join an
existing academy trust the consultation document should include
the criteria and assessment applied by the governing body to
measure their preferred academy trust against other academy
trusts considered, to ensure a rigorous due diligence exercise is
completed. Comparison should be made in similar terms to local
authority control.

During consultation, Governors should remain impartial when
sending written materials to parents or posting information on the
school website about an academy conversion; they should ensure
the case against academy status should be given equal prominence
and the same weight as any arguments in favour.

 The school should organise stakeholder consultation meetings
where speakers both for and against conversion can make their
case and where parents, staff and others can ask questions and
receive answers and full feedback.

 The timing of consultation meetings should facilitate attendance by
the widest possible number of interested parties. This could also
mean taking into account days of religious worship.

 Parents who do not speak English as a first language should be
      provided a version of the consultation document in their first
      language.

 The school should also consider holding a ballot of key stakeholders
      before taking any decision on academy conversion.

Where the local authority is not satisfied with the consultation, it
      will organise such a ballot. It will actively consider this option if
      concerns are raised by recognised trade unions or any notable
      number of staff or parents.

2. To communicate this Policy to all Headteachers, school governors,
    academy chains that already have a presence in Bury, and any academy
    chain that expresses an interest in Bury schools.

  On being put, with 28 voting for, 0 voting against, and with 17 abstentions, 
including the Mayor, the Mayor declared the motion carried.

C.166 SCRUTINY REPORTS AND SPECIFIC ITEMS “CALLED IN” BY SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEES 

There were no Scrutiny Review Reports or specific items “called in” by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee to be considered at this Council meeting. 

C.167       QUESTIONS ON THE WORK OF OUTSIDE BODIES OR PARTNERSHIPS 

Document Pack Page 11



114

There were no questions received in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11.2.

C.168 DELEGATED DECISIONS OF COUNCIL COMMITTEES 

There were no written questions asked on the delegated decisions of the Committees 
or Scrutiny Committee contained in the Digest of Decision 2 (2018/19).

THE WORSHIPFUL THE MAYOR

NOTE:              The meeting started at 7.00 pm and ended at 10.20pm

Document Pack Page 12



Document Pack Page 13 Agenda Item 5



Document Pack Page 14



Document Pack Page 15



Document Pack Page 16



Document Pack Page 17



Document Pack Page 18



Document Pack Page 19



Document Pack Page 20



Document Pack Page 21



Document Pack Page 22



Document Pack Page 23



Document Pack Page 24



Document Pack Page 25



Document Pack Page 26



Document Pack Page 27



Document Pack Page 28



Document Pack Page 29



Document Pack Page 30



Document Pack Page 31



Document Pack Page 32



Document Pack Page 33



Document Pack Page 34



Document Pack Page 35



Document Pack Page 36



Document Pack Page 37



Document Pack Page 38



Document Pack Page 39



Document Pack Page 40



Document Pack Page 41



Document Pack Page 42



Document Pack Page 43



Document Pack Page 44



Document Pack Page 45



Document Pack Page 46



Document Pack Page 47



Document Pack Page 48



Document Pack Page 49



Document Pack Page 50



Document Pack Page 51



Document Pack Page 52



Document Pack Page 53



Document Pack Page 54



Document Pack Page 55



Document Pack Page 56



Document Pack Page 57



Document Pack Page 58



Document Pack Page 59



Document Pack Page 60



Document Pack Page 61



Document Pack Page 62



Document Pack Page 63



Document Pack Page 64



Document Pack Page 65



Document Pack Page 66



Document Pack Page 67



Document Pack Page 68



Document Pack Page 69



Document Pack Page 70



Document Pack Page 71



Document Pack Page 72



Document Pack Page 73



Document Pack Page 74



Document Pack Page 75



Document Pack Page 76



Document Pack Page 77



Document Pack Page 78



Document Pack Page 79



Document Pack Page 80



Document Pack Page 81



Document Pack Page 82



Document Pack Page 83



Document Pack Page 84



Document Pack Page 85



Document Pack Page 86



Document Pack Page 87



Document Pack Page 88



MEETINGS: Audit Committee
Cabinet
Council

DATE: 20th September 2018

SUBJECT: Risk Management Annual Report 2017/18

REPORT FROM: Councillor Eamonn O’Brien - Cabinet Member for 
Finance & Housing

CONTACT OFFICER: David Hipkiss, Risk & Governance Manager

TYPE OF DECISION: COUNCIL - KEY DECISION

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION/STATUS:

This paper is within the public domain

SUMMARY: The Risk Management Annual Report provides Members 
with details of risk management activity that has taken 
place over the past 12 months.  It outlines risk 
management policies and practices now in place and the 
key issues that will be addressed during the coming 
financial year.  

OPTIONS & 
RECOMMENDED OPTION

Members are requested to re-affirm their support for the 
Council’s approach to Risk Management, and note 
progress made throughout 2017/18 and actions planned 
for 2018/19.

IMPLICATIONS:

Corporate Aims/Policy 
Framework:

Do the proposals accord with the Policy 
Framework? Yes

Financial Implications and Risk 
Considerations:

See Executive Director of Resources & 
Regulation comment below

Statement by Executive Director 
of Resources:

There are no direct resource implications 
arising from this report.

Risk management is an integral part of the 

1

Agenda
Item

REPORT FOR DECISION
Agenda
Item

Document Pack Page 89



Council’s approach to Corporate Governance 
and service and financial planning and it is 
essential that robust risk management 
practices are put in place to safeguard the 
Council’s assets and its reputation.

Corporate, departmental and operational risk 
assessments have been undertaken and key 
elements of the resultant Management Action 
Plans are incorporated into Departmental 
Service Plans.

Equality/Diversity implications: No

Considered by Monitoring Officer: Yes (Governance Panel)

Are there any legal implications? No

Staffing/ICT/Property: 
There are no direct HR, IT or property 
implications arising from this report.

Wards Affected: All

Scrutiny Interest: Overview & Scrutiny

TRACKING/PROCESS DIRECTOR:

Chief Executive/
Strategic Leadership 

Team

Cabinet 
Member/Chair

Audit Committee Partners

20th September 
2018

Overview & Scrutiny Councillors Cabinet Council
14th November 

2018
28th November 

2018

2

Document Pack Page 90



1.0 BACKGROUND AND RISK PRIORITIES DURING 2017/18

1.1 The Cabinet approved the Council’s Risk Management Policy and Strategy 
in March 2006 which is reviewed annually.

Risk Priorities 2017/18

1.2 The Council continued to experience reduced funding, and increased 
demand for services, both placing pressure on the Council’s budget, and 
regularly reported to Cabinet, Scrutiny, and Audit Committee.  

1.3 An ongoing review of all the Council’s Corporate and Service Business 
Continuity Plans including the Council’s organisational structures that 
support these plans.

1.4 Understanding the implications and preparing as much in advance of the 
new Data Protection Legislation (GDPR) coming into force May 2018.

2.0 IMPLEMENTING RISK MANAGEMENT 

2.1 Risk management forms an integral part of strategic planning in the 
Council, ensuring early intervention and management of uncertainty in 
delivering key strategic priorities.   

2.2 Early intervention and assessment of risks ensures that departments are 
able to fully prepare for existing and emerging priorities, and manage 
their objectives effectively against financial, reputational and performance 
risks, whilst meeting Team Bury and the Council’s Corporate Priorities.

2.3 This approach to risk management ensures a continuous and evolving 
process that runs throughout the council’s core functional activities at all 
levels.

“Good risk management supports accountability, performance 
measurement and reward, thus promoting operational efficiency 
at all levels”. A Risk Management Standard – Institute of Risk 
Management.

2.4 Risk Assessment Action Plan Registers (RAAP’s) are used across 
departments to record identified risks and opportunities, and actions being 
taken. RAAP Registers as they are referred to throughout this report are 
used at all levels throughout the Council to record information and help 
manage Corporate, Departmental, and Operational risks. 

2.5 RAAP’s are an effective tool to identify, evaluate and manage areas of 
uncertainty and exploit opportunities at corporate, departmental and 
operational levels and to ensure achievement of the Council’s aims and 
objectives.

2.6 The Council’s risk management framework is outlined in summary below;

3

Document Pack Page 91



 An approved Corporate Policy & Strategy for Risk Management that 
can be read online or downloaded

 A Corporate Policy & Strategy that details the Council’s approach to 
managing risk focussing on three key lines of defence that enables 
direct input, strategic overview and scrutiny at all levels from officers, 
senior management, governance groups and independent review 
bodies.

These three lines of defence ensure:

Effective Operational Management – Defence Level 1 - Having clear 
lines of responsibility/ownership, clear and accessible risk reporting 
and communication lines, up to date policies, procedures, guidance 
and training material and having in place a consistent approach to 
assessing and managing risk across the Council.

A clear management oversight – Defence Level 2 -  That is clear 
about the risk management framework and actively taking place, 
oversees and manage risk both at strategic and operational levels. 

Independent internal audit and scrutiny – Defence Level 3 – 
Actively engaged, involved and challenging current working 
practices at all levels having direct access at operational, senior 
management and governing team levels.

 Key strategic and corporate governing groups that are actively 
engaged in the risk management process ensure an objective review of 
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control both at 
strategic and operational level.

o Senior Leadership Team (Senior Officers of the Council)
o Corporate Risk Management Group (Member Level)
o Operational Risk Management Group (Officer Level)
o Governance Panel comprising:

 Executive Director of Resources & Regulation
 Assistant Director for Legal & Democratic Services
 Head of Financial Management

 The Risk Management Framework is supported by up to date guidance 
and training material, accessible to all staff:

4

Operational
Management

Management Oversight

Independent Oversight

Document Pack Page 92



o Comprehensive Intranet Risk Management Website and Toolkit
o Corporate Risk / Opportunity Assessment Action Plan Register
o Departmental Strategic Risk Assessment Action Plan Registers
o Operational Risk Assessment Action Plan Registers – held by 

service managers and maintained as part of the day to day 
management of service provision

o A Common Risk Register (General good practice guide)
o Dedicated Risk Management Section – Operating from Strategic 

Finance alongside but independent from Internal Audit
o A working in Partnership Risk Assessment Model (PRAM) that 

provides a platform to manage risk working with other 
partners/organisations.

2.7 Also in place is an effective communication and risk reporting network, 
with regular reports to:

 Full Council (annual report)
 Audit Committee
 Strategic Leadership Team
 Corporate Risk Management Group (Members)
 Operational Risk Management Group (Officers)
 Business Continuity Management representatives 
 All departments and Service Heads

2.7 The diagram at Appendix A has been drawn up to help demonstrate Bury 
Council’s risk management processes, illustrating strategic and 
operational planning across the authority, also the delivery of service and 
the movement and reporting of risks associated with these two key risk 
drivers within each of the departments.  

3.0 DEPARTMENTAL PROGRESS 2017/18

3.2 Children, Young People & Culture

2017/18 managed high risks focused upon;

 Demand pressures on available resources
 Budget constraints following large scale reductions
 Capacity to deliver services
 Legal challenges and reputational risks
 School roles changing – System Leadership Model
 Changing Government Legislation
 Impact of Academies 
 Children & Young People in care
 Safeguarding mechanisms

Despite some success during 2017/18, the department is still 
highlighting a number concerns reflected by the final quarters result.  
Individual Departmental Risk Registers are available on request.

3.3 Communities & Wellbeing

2017/18 managed high risks focused upon;

 High cost packages relating to Children’s transition cases

5

Document Pack Page 93



 Reducing budgets faced with increasing demands
 Lack of growth investment
 Cuts in Public Health Budgets
 Sickness and absence
 Business Continuity
 Improve/re-develop skills mix
 Commissioning functions between CCG and Council
 IT development
 GDPR
 Subject Access Requests
 Freedom of Information Requests
 Changes in legislation
 Growing demands – increasing population
 Safeguarding
 Unoccupied buildings
 Health & Safety
 Changes in welfare reform and consequences
 Development of new types of social enterprise
 Target reviews and assessments not met

Despite some success during 2017/18 with managing these risks, the 
department is still highlighting a number of concerns reflected by the 
final quarters risk review.  Individual Departmental Risk Registers are 
available on request.

3.4 Resources & Regulation

2017/18 focussed on a number of high risks, these include:

 Responding effectively to significant funding reductions
 Ongoing welfare reforms
 Acadamisation of schools 
 Brexit
 Changes to Business Rates Retention Scheme
 Resident expectations
 Opportunities presented by the GM Devolution Agenda and wider 

Public Service Reform

Owing to the nature and wider impact of these risks on public service they 
are also reflected within the Corporate Risk Register.

4.0 CORPORATE RISKS

4.1 The Corporate Risk Assessment Action Plan records all risks posing the 
most serious threat to the Council, risks that would impact upon a wider 
range of services and that are not able to be managed effectively within a 
directorate.  These risks are reviewed continually by the Strategic 
Leadership Team – both through quarterly reviews, and as agenda items 
in their own right.  The Corporate Risk Register takes account of risk 
management activity taking place across departments allowing for the 
transfer of high risk and also of known future risk. 

4.2 Member input is sought throughout the year via the Corporate Risk 
Management Group, and quarterly reports to the Audit Committee.

6

Document Pack Page 94



4.3 The table overleaf tracks the status of corporate risks throughout 
2017/18.  

7

Document Pack Page 95



Corporate Risk Register 2017/18 – As at 31st March 2018

Raw Risk Score Mitigation Measures / Assurance Levels Risk 
Conclusion

Residual Risk ScoreRisk Risk Owner

Li
ke

lih
oo

d Im
pa

ct

Pr
ox

im
ity

Sc
or

e

Target 
Risk 

Score

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Li
ke

lih
oo

d Im
pa

ct

Pr
ox

im
ity

Sc
or

e

Direction of 
Travel

The Council 
doesn’t agree 
a balanced 
budget

Cabinet / 
SLT

4 4 4 6
4

LOW The Council has a 
4 year financial 
forecast covering 
2016/17 to 
2019/20 in line 
with the 
Government’s 4 
year funding 
offer.

Budget options 
have now been 
approved (Feb 
17) covering a 3 
year period, 
recognising the 
lead in times for 
the development 
of options.

Budget forecasts 
will continue to 
be reviewed on a 
12 month rolling 
forecast; or as 
new information 
come to light.

Budget options 
validated by the 
Councils Strategic 
Leadership Team, 
and through 
regular meetings 
with Portfolio 
Holders.

Budget proposals 
were considered 
by the Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee prior 
to approval.

Currently no 
reliance being 
placed on 
reserves, 
however this is 
the second year 
an overspend is 
predicted.

Future years 
equally 
challenging. 

Council needs to 
consider 
alternative 
approaches to 
budget setting.

External Audit 
Opinion on 
VFM / 
Financial 
Standing

Manage 2 4 4 32

Risk 
increased 
from last 
quarter

8

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 96



The Council 
cannot deliver 
cuts approved 
in the budget

Cabinet / 
SLT

4 4 4 6
4

LOW Robust budget 
monitoring 
procedures are in 
place, given early 
warning of 
potential 
pressures.

Challenges of 
delivering 
continuous 
budget cuts with 
reduced 
organisational 
capacity.

Control measures 
in place to 
mitigate 
overspend 
pressures where 
possible.

Final outturn is 
an overspend of 
£844k.

Budget monitoring 
reports are 
considered every 
month by SLT, and 
reported quarterly 
to Cabinet.

SLT and the 
Cabinet meet 
regularly to discuss 
progress with the 
in year budget.

Monitoring reports 
consider a RAG 
rating for delivery 
of cuts 

Finance Portfolio 
Holder now “calling 
in” specific 
business areas to 
investigate issues.

Monitoring reports 
are also considered 
quarterly at;

 SLT / 
Cabinet

 Overview & 
Scrutiny

 Audit Cttee

Increasingly 
considering 
“Invest to Save” 
options.

Additional 
resources available 
for Adult Social 
Care – via precept 
& Government

External 
Audit 
Opinion on 
VFM / 
Financial 
Standing.

Manage 4 4 4 64
No 
change to 
risk score

9

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 97



Resilience and 
capacity of 
services is 
jeopardised by 
ongoing 
funding 
reductions

SLT 4 4 4 6
4

LOW Budget options 
consider 
operational 
impact, and are 
subject to 
separate risk 
assessments.

The Council 
undertakes 
workforce 
planning to 
ensure the right 
staff are in place, 
with the right 
skills at the time 
needed.

Recruitment & 
Retention of staff 
presents a 
challenge in 
some service 
areas.

There is a 
dedicated 
workstream 
looking at HR / 
OD as the Council 
moves to OCO / 
LCO operating 
arrangements 
with the NHS.

Business continuity 
plans exist for all 
services

The Council 
received minimal 
transition funding 
from the 
Government 
compared to other 
GM authorities.

The Council has 
access to 
transformation 
funding under GM 
Health & Social 
Care arrangements

Greater use of 
interim placements 
to address time 
limited pressures / 
work tasks e.g. 
Growth / 
Regeneration and 
Traded Services

External 
Audit 
Opinion on 
VFM / 
Financial 
Standing

External 
reviews, e.g. 
OFSTED / 
CQC

Resident 
satisfaction 
levels

Manage 4 4 4 64

No 
change to 
risk score

10

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 98



Changes to 
the Business 
Rates 
Retention 
scheme 
(100%) 
impact 
adversely on 
the Council – 
e.g. appeals

Cabinet 
Member 
for 
Finance & 
HR / 
Interim 
Executive 
Director 
of 
Resources 
& 
Regulatio
n

3 4 4 4
8

LOW The Council 
makes “in year” 
provision for the 
impact of appeals 
when estimating 
yield (NNDR1), 
and also makes 
provision within 
the annual 
revenue budget.

In addition, the 
Council holds a 
reserve to fund 
the backdating 
(i.e. one-off) 
effect of appeals.  

Risk of appeals is 
heightened under 
100% retention 
(although 
protection for 
2017/18 pilot); 
also likely to be 
increased 
incidence of 
appeals in light of 
2017 revaluation

Impact of 
business failure 
also increases, 
however 
mitigated 
through work of 
Business 
Engagement 
Team

The Council 
maintains an active 
dialogue with the 
Valuation Office 
Agency to ensure 
that appeals are 
dealt with in a 
timely manner. 

The Council 
participates in the 
GM Collection Fund 
Accounting Group.

Pilot exercise 
underway to tackle 
aged debt.

The Council’s 
External 
Auditors 
review the 
Council’s 
Collection 
Fund, and 
Appeals 
Provisions as 
part of the 
annual audit 
process.

Manage 3 4 4 48
No 
change to 
risk score

11

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 99



Ongoing 
Welfare 
Reforms place 
additional 
pressure on 
both residents 
and the 
Council

Cabinet 
Member 
for 
Strategic 
Housing & 
Support 
Services / 
Interim 
Executive 
Director 
of 
Resources 
& 
Regulatio
n

4 4 4 6
4

LOW Regular 
monitoring of 
the impact of 
reforms is 
undertaken.

Increased risk 
due to revised 
CTS scheme, 
and increased 
Council Tax 
(necessary to 
fund Adult 
Social Care)

Increasing 
reliance on 3rd 
Sector, which 
itself faces 
funding 
reductions

Concerns over 
security of 
employment 
and uncertain 
economic 
outlook

The impact of 
reforms is 
reported through 
the Welfare 
Reform Board.

The Council is 
currently 
updating its 
Poverty Strategy, 
and assessing 
how fuel poverty 
for Council 
tenants can be 
addressed

The Cabinet has 
now endorsed an 
Anti-Poverty 
Strategy, and 
additional 
resources 
(£200k) have 
been allocated to 
address poverty 
related issues.

The Council has 
endorsed a 
motion to 
develop a Young 
Savers scheme.

There is 
close 
liaison with 
Partner 
organisatio
ns, e.g. 
CAB, Six 
Town 
Housing to 
assess and 
mitigate 
the impact 
of reforms.  

The Council 
is an active 
member of 
the 
Manchester 
Credit 
Union.

Manage 4 4 4 64
No 
change to 
risk score

12

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 100



Ongoing 
academisation 
of schools 
impacts upon 
income levels 
for traded 
services

Cabinet 
Member 
for 
Children & 
Families / 
Executive 
Director 
of 
Children, 
Young 
People & 
Culture

3 4 3 3
6

LOW Traded services 
are currently 
undergoing a 
comprehensive 
review to assess 
the impact of 
academy 
conversions.

Requires more 
proactive 
management as 
risk of schools 
not buying-back 
increases

Risk heightened 
by pressures on 
school budgets

The Council has a 
good relationship 
with schools, and a 
high level of buy-
back.

Where possible, 
and viable, 
services will 
continue to be 
traded to schools 
that undergo 
academy 
conversion.

The 
relationship 
with schools 
is managed 
proactively 
through the 
Schools 
Forum.

Working 
group set up 
to explore 
further 
opportunities 
for providing 
competitive 
traded 
services

Additional 
resources in 
place, and 
pricing offers 
sent to 
schools.

Manage 4 4 3 48
No 
change to 
risk score

Unknown 
implications of 
the Brexit 
referendum 
impact 
adversely 
upon the 
Council

Cabinet / 
SLT

4 4 4 6
4

M
ED

IU
M

The most 
significant risk is 
the uncertainty of 
the implications 
of Brexit – 
notably economic 
conditions.

Potential impact 
on the pound, 
inflation, and 
impact upon Bury 
businesses

The Council makes 
use of external 
brokers (Link) who 
offer advice on 
economic 
conditions and the 
Council’s Treasury 
Management.

Other 
professional 
networks are 
utilised, e.g. 
GM 
Treasurers 
Group

Regular 
“Brexit 
Monitors” 
are received 
from the 
GMCA

Accept 4 4 4 64 No 
change to 
risk score

13

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 101



The Council is 
unable to 
manage 
customer / 
resident 
demands and 
expectations 
in the light of 
funding 
reductions

Cabinet / 
SLT

4 4 3 4
8

LOW The Council has 
previously written 
to all residents 
advising them of 
the impact of 
funding 
reductions.

Further 
communication 
required e.g. 
resident briefings

Public meetings 
are held each year 
as part of the 
budget 
consultation 
process.

Public engagement 
necessary to move 
forward with 
Neighbourhood 
working models / 
contract with 
residents

Focus of 
Neighbourhood 
working model is 
to facilitate and 
empower residents 
and communities, 
and assist with 
capacity building.

The role of 
elected 
members is 
critical as 
they provide 
an interface 
between 
residents 
and the 
Council

Manage 4 4 4 64 No 
change to 
risk score

The Council’s 
growth 
strategy is 
impeded by 
external 
influences, 
e.g. economic 
conditions

Leader / 
Chief 
Executive

3 4 3 3
6

LOW The Council has a 
clear Growth 
Strategy in place

GMSF timescales 
now revised to 
2018

Economic 
uncertainty may 
stifle growth.
 

Growth Strategy 
has been agreed at 
both Council and 
Partner level (Bury 
Wider Leadership 
Group).

Second report to 
Cabinet – 
November 2017 
outlining delivery 
plan.

Interim resource 
recruited (20 
months) to 
oversee delivery of 
plan

The Council 
actively 
promotes 
development 
opportunities 
nationally, 
and engages 
with GM 
activity to 
promote the 
region.

Work is also 
taking place 
with 
employers 
and students 
through the 
Bury Skills 
Commission

Manage 3 3 3 27
No 
Change to 
risk score

14

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 102



Population 
growth and 
age profile 
lead to service 
demands 
exceeding 
Council 
capacity / 
resources.

Cabinet / 
SLT

4 4 3 4
8

LOW The Council has 
adopted the 
Social Care 
Precept 
(2017/18) to 
channel 
additional 
resources to 
pressures in 
Adult Social Care.

Continuing 
pressures in the 
NHS will impact 
upon the 
Council’s services

Further funding 
for Social Care 
now made 
available

Complexity and 
long term nature 
of conditions an 
increasing 
pressure

Fragile market of 
care providers

A number of 
initiatives are in 
place aimed at 
early intervention, 
and self care e.g. 
reablement, 
wellbeing service

The Bury Locality 
has secured £19m 
transformation 
funding to redesign 
care models 

Social Care 
demands have 
been clearly 
outlined in the 
Council’s Fair 
Funding 
submission.

Close 
working 
takes place 
with 
partners in 
the CCG and 
key 
providers to 
mitigate 
demand 
pressures.

Development 
of LCO / 
OCO working 
model

Manage 4 4 4 64 No 
Change to 
risk score

15

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 103



Ability to 
maintain core 
functions 
(statutory & 
non-statutory) 
e.g. 
safeguarding 
is impeded by 
funding 
reductions.

Cabinet / 
SLT

2 4 3 2
4

LOW The budget setting 
process reflects to a 
degree the statutory 
nature of services 
when allocating cuts 
targets

Further work needs 
to be undertaken to 
reflect prioritisation 
of resources

Additional resources 
now available for 
Adult Social Care

Narrative revised to 
reflect that both 
statutory and 
discretionary 
functions are now at 
risk.

Directors prioritise 
spend to ensure 
statutory 
obligations are 
fulfilled – this is 
done through the 
Cash ceiling / 
virement scheme.

External Audit 
Opinion on 
VFM / 
Financial 
Standing

Corporate 
Parenting / 
Health 
Scrutiny

External 
reviews, e.g. 
OFSTED / CQC 
– NB action 
plan being 
developed in 
light of recent 
OFSTED 
inspection.

Manage 2 4 3 24 No 
Change to 
risk score

Health & 
Social Care 
integration 
does not 
reform 
services and 
deliver 
required 
efficiency 
savings

Cabinet 
Member 
for Health 
& 
Wellbeing 
/ 
Executive 
Director 
of 
Communit
ies & 
Wellbeing

3 4 4 4
8

LOW The Council and CCG 
work closely 
together and 
operate pooled 
budgets in some 
areas (Better Care 
Fund).

The Council and CCG 
management teams 
meet jointly on a 
regular basis.

Capacity to develop 
arrangements is a 
risk, however the 
Bury Locality has 
now secured £19m 
transformation 
funding to mitigate 
this

The Council is 
working towards 
development of a 
single 
commissioning 
organisation 
(OCO); similarly, it 
is proposed to 
operate a Local 
Care Alliance (LCA) 
in shadow form 
from  April 2018.

The Health 
integration project 
has clearly defined 
governance 
arrangements and 
its own project risk 
register

Partnership 
working takes 
across the 
broader Public 
Service 
footprint.  

Requires a 
multi-agency 
approach to 
encourage 
behaviour 
change.

Staff of the 
Council and 
CCG are co-
locating to aid 
joint working.

Manage 3 4 4 48 No 
Change 
to risk 
score

16

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 104



GM approach 
to devolution 
does not 
reform 
services and 
deliver 
required 
efficiency 
savings

Leader / 
Chief 
Executive 

2 4 3 2
4

LOW The Council is an 
equal partner in 
AGMA / CA, and 
engages actively 
through regular GM 
meetings at officer 
level. 

Need to ensure 
democratic / 
governance 
processes preserve 
local accountability 

Need to look beyond 
Health & Social Care 
and examine where 
joint working can 
offer wider 
efficiencies

This is 
supplemented by a 
comprehensive 
schedule of 
meetings at 
member level.

Mature joint 
working 
arrangements 
developed in 
respect of Health & 
Social Care 
Devolution

Clear emerging 
roles around 
Transport, 
congestion and Air 
Quality

Elected Mayor 
now in place, 
with key 
positions held 
by Bury 
elected 
members

Manage 1 3 3 9 Risk 
Reduced

Risk Scoring Matrix
Likelihood 1 (low) – 4 (high)
Impact 1 (low) – 4 (high)
Proximity 1 (low) – 4 (high)
Maximum Score 4 x 4 x 4 = 64

Low Risk 0 - 20

Medium Risk 21 – 40

High Risk 41 - 64

17

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 105



5.0 CHALLENGES FOR 2018/19 

5.1 The challenge for the coming year will be to ensure risk and business 
continuity management form an integral part of the council’s response to 
continued spending reductions, ensuring threats and opportunities to 
service provision are managed effectively and service resilience is 
maintained throughout.

5.2 Economic conditions continue to have an adverse impact on income levels 
in Departments, notably Resources & Regulation (Property and parking 
fees). The risk is recognised in the assessment of the minimum level of 
balances and will continue to be closely monitored throughout 2018/19.

5.3 Budgets in respect of Children’s Social Care remain under pressure in the 
light of the increased emphasis on child protection nationally. Likewise, 
pressures remain in Adult Care Services in respect of an increasing elderly 
population and Learning Disability care packages. Controls are in place to 
ensure appropriate care packages are provided, and improved 
procurement activity ensures these are obtained at competitive rates. This 
situation will continue to be closely monitored during 2018/19.

5.3 The following areas will be our main priority for 2018/19:

 Ensuring risk and business continuity management forms an integral 
part of service planning, performance and the delivery of objectives in 
light of increased agile working and public service reforms.   

 Ensuring the Council is fully compliant with all requirements of the new 
Data Protection Legislation

 Building upon the work started by Strategic Leadership Team where 
key corporate risks are considered in depth alongside the quarterly 
review process.

 Continuing to raise Member involvement in risk management and 
business continuity.

 Maintaining the Business Continuity Planning Database to ensure it 
maintains good quality information relating to service priorities and 
their continuity arrangements.

 Continuing to strengthen risk management arrangements in key 
strategies such as the Medium Term Financial Strategy (Efficiency 
Plan), the Workforce Development Strategy, and the Asset 
Management Strategy.

 Continuing the development of risk reporting and monitoring 
processes.

 Strengthening risk management arrangements at operational level and 
with partnership arrangements.

 Ensure risk management focus is widened to better understand, 
manage and take advantage of opportunity risk as well as managing 
potential risk threats

 Benchmarking with other public and private sector organisations 
 Strengthen service resilience against disruption through effective risk 

and business continuity management.
 Aligning the quarterly reporting of risk, performance and the Council’s 

financial position.
 Proactively responding to the risks, challenges and opportunities 

presented by the GM devolution agenda, and ensuring Bury interests 
are safeguarded

18

Document Pack Page 106



6.0 CONCLUSIONS

Considerable progress continues to be made in the area of risk 
management and in embedding the approach to risk management into the 
authority’s processes and culture.  However there is no room for 
complacency and this subject will continue to be given significant 
attention over the coming twelve months.

Background documents:

Risk Management Policy, toolkit & risk registers - maintained on Intranet.

For further information on the contents of this report, please contact:

David Hipkiss, Risk and Information Governance Manager
Tel: 0161 253 6677         e-mail: D.Hipkiss@bury.gov.uk

19

Document Pack Page 107

mailto:D.Hipkiss@bury.gov.uk


APPENDIX A

20

Annual Forward Planning Events
 New focus, priorities 

identified
 Consultation of 

Outcomes with 
departments

 Project Lead officers 
nominated 

 Risk assess 
outcomes

Key risks included within Corporate Risk Assessment 
Action Plan Register (Corporate RAAP)

 Project lead officers appointed to risk assess Strategic 
Objectives & Priorities on behalf of and for Departmental 

Planning purposes
 All key risks presented back to Strategic Leadership 

Team and Executive

Children, Young People & 
Culture Risk Register

Communities & Wellbeing
Risk Register

Resource & Regulation
Risk Register

Risks Internal & External Environment

External Drivers
Financial Strategic Operational Hazards
Interest Rates Competition Regulations Contractual Events
Credit Customer Change Culture Natural events

Industry change Supply Chains
Customer Demand Environmental 
Political Change

Internal Drivers
Liquidity Research Accounting Employees
Cash Flow Development Information Public Access

Systems Properties
Products/Services

Corporate Risk
Management 

Group
Defence Level 2

Cabinet
Defence Level 2

Operational Risk Assessment Action Plan Registers (Op RAAPs) – Assessment of 
risks against day-to-day activity - service provision, programmes, projects etc..

Bury Council 
Strategic 

Objectives & 
Priorities

Corporate  & 
Departmental 
Operational 

Risks

Strategic 
Leadership 

Team
Defence Level 2

Operational Risk 
Management 

Group
Defence Level 1/2

Operational 
Activity

Service/Team/
Project 

Delivery Plans

Operational 
Activity

Service/Team/
Project 

Delivery Plans

Operational 
Activity

Service/Team/
Project 

Delivery Plans

Common 
Risk 

Register

ESCALATED RISK ESCALATED RISKESCALATED RISK

Internal / 
External Audit
Defence Level 3

Document Pack Page 108



21

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 109



T
his page is intentionally left blank



DECISION OF: CABINET
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
COUNCIL

DATE: 14 NOVEMBER 2018
22 NOVEMBER 2018
28 NOVEMBER 2018

SUBJECT: TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY – MID YEAR 
REVIEW 2018/19

REPORT FROM: CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE & HOUSING

CONTACT OFFICER: STEPHEN KENYON, INTERIM EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
OF RESOURCES AND REGULATION

TYPE OF DECISION: COUNCIL

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION/STATUS:

The report is within the public domain

SUMMARY: This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance 
with CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management, 
and covers the following:

 An economic update for the 2018/19 financial year 
to 30 September 2018;

 A review of the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement and Annual Investment Strategy;

 The Council’s capital expenditure, as set out in the 
Capital Strategy, and prudential indicators;

 A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 
2018/19 

 A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 
2018/19

 A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken 
during 2018/19

 A review of compliance with Treasury and 
Prudential Limits for 2018/19

OPTIONS & It is recommended that, in accordance with CIPFA’s Code 
of Practice on Treasury Management, the report be noted.

Agenda
Item

REPORT FOR DECISION

Document Pack Page 111



RECOMMENDED OPTION

IMPLICATIONS:

Corporate Aims/Policy 
Framework:

Do the proposals accord with the Policy 
Framework? Yes

Statement by the S151 Officer:
Financial Implications and Risk 
Considerations:

Treasury Management is an integral part of 
the Council’s financial framework and it is 
essential that the correct strategy is adopted 
in order to ensure that best value is obtained 
from the Council’s resources and that assets 
are safeguarded.

Statement by Interim Executive 
Director of Resources and 
Regulation:

There are no wider resource implications

Equality/Diversity implications: No

Considered by Monitoring Officer: The report complies with the Council's 
financial regulation 5.7. The Council is 
required by statute to set and maintain a 
balanced budget. Careful management of 
the finances in year allows the Council to 
achieve this and this report provides a 
means for Members to carefully monitor 
the situation.                                       JH

Wards Affected: All

Scrutiny Interest: Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

TRACKING/PROCESS DIRECTOR: STEVE KENYON

Chief Executive/
Strategic Leadership 

Team

Cabinet 
Member/Chair

Ward Members Partners

14 November 14 November N/a N/a

Scrutiny Committee Council
22 November   28 November

Document Pack Page 112



1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 In December 2017, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, 
(CIPFA), issued revised Prudential and Treasury Management Codes. As from 
2019/20, all authorities will be required to prepare a Capital Strategy which is 
intended to provide the following:-

 A high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 
treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services,

 An overview of how the associated risk is managed,

 The implications for future financial sustainability.

A report setting out our Capital Strategy will be taken to Council before 31st 
March 2019.

1.2 The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash raised 
during the year will meet cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury management 
operations ensure this cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies 
being invested in low risk counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially 
before considering optimising investment return.

The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of 
the Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing 
need of the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure 
that the Council can meet its capital spending obligations.  This management of 
longer term cash may involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer 
term cash flow surpluses, and on occasion any debt previously drawn may be 
restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives. 

Accordingly, treasury management is defined as:-
“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash 
flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the 
effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit 
of optimum performance consistent with those risks”.

1.2 This report has been written in accordance with the requirements of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice 
on Treasury Management (revised 2017). 

The primary requirements of the Code are as follows: 

1. Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement 
which sets out the policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury 
management activities.

2. Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set out 
the manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and 
objectives.

3. Receipt by the full council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement - including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy - for the year ahead, a Mid-year Review Report 
and an Annual Report (stewardship report) covering activities during the 
previous year.

4. Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and 
monitoring treasury management policies and practices and for the 
execution and administration of treasury management decisions.

5. Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury management 
strategy and policies to a specific named body.  For this Council the 
delegated body is: Overview & Scrutiny Committee. 

1.3 This report fulfils the requirement to produce a mid-year review.

Document Pack Page 113



2.0 ECONOMIC UP-DATE (from Treasury Advisors)

2.1 Economic Performance to date

2.1.1 UK economic growth in the first half of 2018/19 was modest but sufficiently 
robust for the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) to unanimously vote to increase 
the bank rate on 2nd August from 0.5% to 0.75%. 

2.1.2 Growth is expected to be around 1.5% in 2018, but the Bank of England August 
Quarterly Inflation Report forecast that growth will increase to 1.8% in 2019.

2.1.3 The Consumer Price Index (CPI) measure of inflation rose unexpectedly from 2.4% 
in June to 2.7% in August, but is expected to fall back to the 2% inflation target over 
the next two years given minimal increases in the bank rate. The MPC has indicated 
Bank Rate would need to be in the region of 1.5% by March 2021 for inflation to stay 
on track. 

2.1.4 Financial markets are currently pricing in the next increase in Bank Rate for second 
half of 2019.

2.2 Interest rate Forecasts and Outlook 

2.2.1 The Council’s treasury advisor, Link Asset Services, has provided the following 
forecast: 

Link Asset Services undertook do not think that the MPC will increase Bank Rate in 
February 2019, ahead of the deadline in March for Brexit. They think the MPC is 
more likely to wait until August 2019, than May 2019, before the next increase, to be 
followed by further increases of 0.25% in May and November 2020 to reach 1.5%. 
However, the cautious pace of these limited increases is dependent on a reasonably 
orderly Brexit. 

2.2.2 The overall balance of risks to economic recovery in the UK is neutral. The 
balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB rates, are also 
even and are broadly dependent on how strong GDP growth is, how slowly 
inflation pressures subside, and how quickly the Brexit negotiations move 
forward positively. 

3.0 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY UP-DATE

3.1  The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2018/19 was 
approved by the Council on 21 February 2018. 

Document Pack Page 114



3.2 There are no policy changes to the TMSS; the details in this report update the 
position in the light of the updated economic position and budgetary changes 
already approved. 

4.0 THE COUNCIL’S CAPITAL POSITION (PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS)

This part of the report is structured to update:
 The Council’s capital expenditure plans;
 How these plans are being financed;
 The impact of the changes in the capital expenditure plans on the prudential 

indicators  and the underlying need to borrow; and
 Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity.

4.1 Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure
This table shows the revised estimates for capital expenditure and the changes 
since the capital programme was agreed at the Budget

 2018/19 2018/19
Capital Expenditure Original 

Estimate
Revised 
Estimate

 £m £m
Non-HRA 15.538 28.224
HRA 9.830 12.416
Total 25.368 40.640

The increase of the revised estimate over the original estimate is due to 
slippage from 2017/18 of £28.398m offset by estimated project reprofiling to 
2019/20 of £13.126m

4.2 Changes to the Financing of the Capital Programme

The table below shows the main strategy elements of the capital expenditure 
plans. The borrowing requirement shown will increase the underlying 
indebtedness of the Council by way of the Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR), although this will be reduced in part by revenue charges for the 
repayment of debt (the Minimum Revenue Provision). This direct borrowing 
need may also be supplemented by maturing debt and other treasury 
requirements.

2018/19 2018/19
Original Revised
Estimate EstimateCapital Expenditure

£m £m
Total capital 
expenditure 25,368 40,640

Financed by:   

Capital receipts 1,770 5,096
Capital grants 10,018 10,003
Capital reserves   
Revenue 9,830 13,266

Total financing 21,618 28,365

Borrowing requirement 3,750 12,275

Document Pack Page 115



4.2 Changes to the Prudential Indicators for the Capital Financing 
Requirement, External Debt and the Operational Boundary

The table shows the CFR, which is the underlying external need to incur 
borrowing for a capital purpose.  It also shows the expected debt position over 
the period, which is termed the Operational Boundary.

 2018/19 2018/19
 Original 

Estimate
Revised 
Estimate

 £m £m
Prudential Indicator - Capital Financing Requirement
CFR – non HRA 125.554 129.961
CFR – HRA existing 40.531 40.531
Housing Reform Settlement 78.253 78.253
Total CFR 244.338 248.745
   
Prudential Indicator - External Debt / the Operational Boundary
Borrowing 244.400 248.700
Other long term liabilities 5.000 5.000
Total 249.400 253.700

4.3 Limits to Borrowing Activity

4.3.1 The first key control over the treasury activity is a prudential indicator to ensure 
that over the medium term, net borrowing (borrowings less investments) will 
only be for a capital purpose.  Gross external borrowing should not, except in the 
short term, exceed the total of CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of 
any additional CFR for 2018/19 and next two financial years.  This allows some 
flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years.  The Council has approved 
a policy for borrowing in advance of need which will be adhered to if this proves 
prudent.  

4.3.2 The Interim Executive Director of Resources reports that no difficulties are 
envisaged for the current or future years in complying with this prudential 
indicator.  

4.3.3 A further prudential indicator controls the overall level of borrowing.  This is the 
Authorised Limit which represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited, 
and needs to be set and revised by Members.  It reflects the level of borrowing 
which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not 
sustainable in the longer term.  It is the expected maximum borrowing need with 
some headroom for unexpected movements. This is the statutory limit 
determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. 

 2018/19 2018/19

Document Pack Page 116



Authorised Limit for External Debt Original 
Indicator

Revised 
Indicator

 £m £m
Borrowing 279.400 283.700
Other long term liabilities 5.000 5.000
Total 284.400 288.700

4.3.4 The chart below shows the projected trend of the Council’s Prudential 
Indicators.

193
176 166 165

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
100

150

200

250

300

350

External Debt
Capital Financing
Requirement
Operational Boundary
Authorised Limit

M
ill
io
ns

5.0 INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO 2018/19

5.1 In accordance with the Code, it is the Council’s priority to ensure security of 
capital and liquidity, and to obtain an appropriate level of return which is 
consistent with the Council’s risk appetite.  As set out in Section 2, it is a very 
difficult investment market in terms of earning the level of interest rates 
commonly seen in previous decades as rates are very low and in line with the 
0.75% Bank Rate.  The continuing potential for a re-emergence of a Eurozone 
sovereign debt crisis, and its impact on banks, prompts a low risk and short term 
strategy.  Given this risk environment and the fact that increases in Bank Rate 
are likely to be gradual and unlikely to return to the levels seen in previous 
decades, investment returns are likely to remain low.

5.2 The Council held £4.8m of investments as at 30 September 2018 (£18.5m at 31 
March 2018) and the investment portfolio yield for the first six months of the 
year is 0.61% against Link’s suggested investment earnings rate for returns on 
investments placed, for periods up to three months in 2018/19, of 0.61%.

5.3 The investments held as at 30 September were:-
Type of Investment    £ Million
Call Investments (Cash equivalents) 3.6
Fixed Investments (Short term investments) 1.2

Total 4.8

5.4 The Interim Executive Director of Resources & Regulation confirms that the 
approved limits within the Annual Investment Strategy were not breached during 
the first six months of 2018/19.

Document Pack Page 117



5.5 The Council’s budgeted investment return for 2018/19 is £0.5m, and 
performance for the year to date is in line with the budget.

5.6 The Cabinet have approved a “Property Investment Strategy” which aims to 
increase investment income by investing in property rather than investing with 
financial institutions where returns are low at present. Additional borrowing may 
need to be undertaken to finance property acquisitions; each investment will be 
subject to a robust business case and also non-financial factors (e.g. ethical 
stance) will be considered.

6.0 BORROWING

6.1 The Council’s capital financing requirement (CFR) for 2018/19 is £248.7m.  The 
CFR denotes the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes.  If the 
CFR is positive the Council may borrow from the PWLB or the market (external 
borrowing) or from internal balances on a temporary basis (internal borrowing).  
The balance of external and internal borrowing is generally driven by market 
conditions. The table below shows the Council has borrowings of £189.0m and 
has utilised £59.7m of cash flow funds in lieu of borrowing. This is a prudent and 
cost effective approach in the current economic climate but will require ongoing 
monitoring in the event that upside risk to gilt yields prevail.

  1 April 2018 30 September 2018
  Principal Avg. Principal Avg.
  £000 £000 Rate £000 £000 Rate

        Fixed rate funding Fixed rate funding 
 PWLB 

Bury
131,453 131,453   

 PWLB 
Airport

554 550   

 Market 
Bury

60,500 192,507 48,500 180,503  

    Variable rate funding   Variable rate funding 
 PWLB 

Bury
0 0   

 Market 
Bury

0 0 0  

Temporary 
Loans / 
Bonds

2,003 8,500 8,500  

Total Debt 194,510 3.96%  189,003 3.96%
  
Total 
Investments

21,250 0.24% 4,800 0.61%

     

6.2 External borrowing of £8.5million has been undertaken from the market during 
the first 6 months of 2018/19. 5 short term temporary loans were taken to take 
advantage of low interest rates. The loans were required to replace 4 loans, 
totalling £12m, which matured in the first half of the year.
Additional external borrowing will be required during the remainder of this 
financial year. 

6.3 The graph below shows the movement in PWLB certainty rates for the first six 
months of the year to 30.09.17: 

Document Pack Page 118



            

1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year
3.4.18 1.48% 1.84% 2.22% 2.55% 2.27%
30.9.18 1.55% 1.93% 2.33% 2.74% 2.56%

Low 1.28% 1.67% 2.09% 2.50% 2.25%
Date 01/06/2018 29/05/2018 20/07/2018 20/07/2018 29/05/2018
High 1.57% 1.99% 2.43% 2.83% 2.64%
Date 17/04/2018 25/09/2018 25/04/2018 25/09/2018 25/09/2018

Average 1.46% 1.84% 2.25% 2.64% 2.41%

7.0 DEBT RESCHEDULING

7.1 Debt rescheduling opportunities have been very limited in the current economic 
climate given the consequent structure of interest rates. No debt rescheduling 
was undertaken during the first six months of 2018/19.

Councillor Eamonn O’Brien
Cabinet Member for Finance and Housing 

List of Background Papers:-
None

Contact Details:-
Stephen Kenyon, Interim Executive Director of Resources, Tel 0161 253 5002
E-mail s.kenyon@bury.gov.uk

Document Pack Page 119

mailto:s.kenyon@bury.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



DECISION OF: Cabinet 
Full Council

DATE: 14 November 2018
28 November 2018

SUBJECT: Community Safety Plan

REPORT FROM: CABINET MEMBER - COMMUNITIES

CONTACT OFFICER:
Tom Hoghton –Community Safety Manager
t.l.hoghton@bury.gov.uk
0161 253 5099

TYPE OF DECISION: COUNCIL – KEY DECISION

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION/STATUS: This report is in the public domain

SUMMARY: To request approval for the Community Safety Plan, a 
high level strategic document.

OPTIONS & 
RECOMMENDED OPTION

1) Cabinet to note the contents of the Plan and its 
priorities and recommend to Council for 
inclusion in the Council’s Policy Framework (this 
is the recommended option).

2)Cabinet to suggest amendments to the Plan and 
recommend the amended Plan to Council for 
inclusion in the Policy Framework.

3) To reject the Plan. 

IMPLICATIONS:

Corporate Aims/Policy 
Framework:

Do the proposals accord with the Policy 
Framework? The proposed plan will 

1

REPORT FOR DECISION

Document Pack Page 121

mailto:t.l.hoghton@bury.gov.uk


replace the Crime and Disorder Reduction 
Strategy in the Council’s Policy Framework as 
set out in the Council Constitution. 

Statement by the S151 Officer:
Financial Implications and Risk 
Considerations:

The Plan will be delivered within existing 
resources.

Health and Safety N/A

Statement by Executive Director 
of Resources:

There are no wider resource implications.

Equality/Diversity implications: There are no implications following an 
assessment of the impact of the proposals

Considered by Monitoring Officer: Yes
The Community Safety Plan is to meet the 
duties under Sections 5 and 6 of the Crime 
and Disorder Act 1998 and will replace the 
Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy in the 
Council’s Policy Framework (under the 
Constitution). 
Section 6 of the Crime and Disorder Act 
1998 places obligations on Community 
Safety Partnerships to formulate a 
Strategic Assessment to ascertain the 
levels and patterns of crime, disorder, anti-
social behaviour and substance misuse in 
their area; in order to identify the priorities 
for a three year Community Safety Plan. 
Following the completion of the Strategic 
Assessment and consultation on the 
priorities, the Community Safety Plan is 
then developed to address the priorities 
identified by the Strategic Assessment. 
           

Wards Affected:
All

Scrutiny Interest:

TRACKING/PROCESS DIRECTOR:

Chief Executive/
Strategic Leadership 

Team

Cabinet 
Member/Chair

Ward Members Partners

Scrutiny Committee Committee Council

2

Document Pack Page 122



1.0 BACKGROUND 
1.1 The development of a Community Safety Plan is a statutory responsibility of 
the Local Authority in conjunction with the Partners that form the Community Safety 
Partnership, Chaired by Chief Superintendent Stuart Ellison.

1.2 The previous Plan ran to 2017 and the Partnership had to delay producing this 
one to allow the Greater Manchester Police & Crime Plan to be launched with the 
priorities identified in the attached plan, directly linking to the Greater Manchester 
Mayor’s priorities

1.3 The Partnership has used data gleaned from the GM consultation when 
developing the GM Mayor’s “Standing Together” Police & Crime Plan and also held a 
public consultation on a proposed draft of this Plan. The Public Consultation was 
carried out on the priorities via the ‘One Community’ portal. It was viewed 71 times 
by members of the public with no adverse comments received. 

1.4 The Plan identifies five key priorities:

 Protect & Support Vulnerable People
 Putting victims first
 Reduce re-offending
 Build stable, cohesive communities
 Develop a partnership approach to community safety

Each of these priorities directly links to the GM Police & Crime Plan whilst also 
addressing local needs. The Plan will be delivered via the Community Safety 
Partnership and six sub-groups that will meet the objectives identified under each of 
the five key priorities. The groups are each accountable to the Community Safety 
Partnership and will provide regular updates on progress.

3.0 CONCLUSION 
That the Community Safety Plan in the form attached to the report is approved for 
recommendation to the Council for inclusion in the Council’s Policy Framework as a 
statutory plan.

List of Background Papers:-

Bury Final 
Community Safety Plan1.pdf

Contact Details:-

Tom Hoghton
Community Safety Manager
0161 253 5099
t.l.hoghton@bury.gov.uk

3

Document Pack Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY SAFETY PLAN
2019 - 2021

Document Pack Page 125



No single agency can deliver on the 
complexities of keeping communities safe 
and so Bury’s Community Safety Partnership 
(CSP) brings agencies together to facilitate a 
joined-up approach. 

The CSP has faced some significant new 
challenges in recent years; most significantly, 
there has been a change in the issues 
presented to partners to address, 
compounded by substantial resource 
pressures. That being said, Bury is a very safe 
town in which to live and work and we are 
confident that this Plan will enable the town 
to continue to thrive.

The Plan is a living, working document.  The 
priorities represent a real but realistic 
challenge for the lead agencies and other 
groups and organisations participating 
alongside them. The priorities and key 
objectives set out in this plan are based upon 
an assessment of crime and disorder issues 
across the Borough and reflect the views of 
the community on matters that need to be 
prioritised. 

FOREWORD

C O M M U N I T Y  S A F E T Y  P L A N  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 1

Chief Superintendent Stuart Ellison 
(Chair of the Community Safety Partnership)

Councillor Tamoor Tariq 
(Cabinet Member for Communities & Safer Neighbourhoods)

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 126



C O M M U N I T Y  S A F E T Y  P L A N  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 1

The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places 
obligations on the Community Safety 
Partnership to produce a Community Safety 
Plan to outline how all partners intend to 
work together to impact upon crime and 
disorder, substance misuse and reduce 
reoffending in the local area. 

The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 changed 
the way crime and anti-social behaviour was 
to be tackled, as it is recognised that in order 
to be effective, agencies needed to work 
together to address the issues collectively. 

Each local area formed a Crime and Disorder 
Reduction Partnership (CDRP) which are now 
called Community Safety Partnerships 
(CSPs).

INTRODUCTION

Team Bury’s CSP is made up of key statutory 
partners that must ensure specific 
obligations such as public engagement and 
delivery of an action plan are met.

Our partners are: Greater Manchester Police, 
Bury Council, Greater Manchester Fire & 
Rescue Service, Probation Service, 
Community Rehabilitation Company, HM 
Prison Service, Six Town Housing, Youth 
Offending Service, Bury CCG, Public Health

We also work with a large number of other 
public and private sector partners as well as 
voluntary and community groups to 
collectively implement and deliver initiatives 
that will help all areas of Bury become a safe 
place to live, work and visit.

WHO ARE TEAM BURY’S COMMUNITY 
SAFETY PARTNERSHIP?

How does the plan link with the Regional 
Context?

This strategy aligns closely with the Mayor of 
Greater Manchester’s ‘Standing Together’ 
Police & Crime Plan. This enables us to 
co-ordinate resources more effectively and 
undertake regional work where beneficial. 

Each of the priorities directly links to one of 
the three over-arching goals identified in the 
Standing Together Plan:

1. To keep people safe - for those who live, 
work, socialise and travel in Greater 
Manchester, as well as protecting those who 
are vulnerable.

2. To reduce harm and offending – preventing 
anti-social and criminal behaviour by 
intervening earlier and rehabilitating offenders.

3. To strengthen communities and places – by 
helping to build resilient communities and 
strengthening the delivery of public assets

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 127



WORKING TO COLLECTIVELY 
IMPLEMENT AND DELIVER 
INITIATIVES THAT WILL HELP 
ALL AREAS OF BURY BECOME 
A SAFE PLACE TO LIVE, WORK 
AND VISIT.

According to the 2011 census, the population 
of Bury has increased by 4360 since 2001. 
Since 2015, it is estimated that more people 
moved out of Bury than moved in from 
elsewhere, and more people were born in 
Bury than died. 

The 2011 census results for Bury put our 
population at 185,060, whilst the 2016 figures 
show the population at 189,330; showing a 
2% increase in 5 years.  By 2020 the 
population is estimated to reach 
approximately 193,400.
   
The age profile of the town’s population has 
changed over time, with those aged 65+ 
having increased by 26% between 2001-2016. 
In 2016 38.2% of Bury’s population were aged 
under 16 or over 64, and based on current 
projections it is anticipated that by 2020 this 
will reach 39.2%.   

During the period 2007-2017 there were just 
over 3,100 new dwellings built in Bury, with 
33% of these being built in Radcliffe. The 
average in the past ten years has been 312 
new dwellings per year, whilst the past five 
years has seen an average completion rate of 
357 new dwellings per annum.
 
Bury has an increasingly diverse mix of ethnic 
and religious communities. Latest census 
figures show that in 2011 10.8% of residents 
described themselves as belonging to a 
mixed, black, Asian or other ethnic persons 
group, compared to 6.1% in 2001. There have 
been significant increases in both Asian and 
black ethnic groups. 

ABOUT BURY

There is also a large proportion of the 
population in Bury that identify their religion 
as Jewish. 42% of Jewish people in Bury live 
in the Sedgley area; these people constitute 
2.4% of Bury’s entire population.

There is a comparative lack of quantitative 
data on lesbian, gay, bisexual and 
transgender (LGBT) people and communities 
in Bury as information on sexual orientation 
and gender identity was not collected at the 
last census. By applying national data from 
2016 to Bury’s population figures, it is 
probable that there are approximately 13,060 
people living in Bury (6.9%) that do not 
identify themselves as heterosexual / 
straight, some will also identify other than 
Cis-gender (a different gender to the one in 
which they were born.) or Intersex (Born with 
several variations in sex characteristics).

Information on civil partnerships was 
collected in the 2011 Census, with 253 people 
in Bury responding that they were in a 
registered same-sex civil partnership.
 
Although levels of deprivation have reduced 
in Bury between 2010–2015, Bury is about 
average for England at local authority levels 
of deprivation. It is ranked 122nd most 
deprived of the 326 districts in England, and 
of the 10 areas in Greater Manchester, Bury is 
the 8th most deprived (i.e. 3rd least deprived) 
Compared with the overall Index of Multiple 
Deprivation (IMD) rank, Bury is relatively less 
deprived for: education; skills and training; 
and barriers to housing and services, and is 
more relatively deprived for: employment; and 
health and disability. 

C O M M U N I T Y  S A F E T Y  P L A N  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 1
D

ocum
ent P

ack P
age 128



DEMAND FOR COMMUNITY 
SAFETY IN BURY

On an average day in Bury:
• There is a Police Officer on duty for every 12,500 people
• There are 11 incidents of Domestic Abuse
• There are 6 incidents of Criminal Damage or Arson
• Community Rehabilitation Company will supervise a total caseload of 450 offenders 
• The Police deal with 4 incidents relating to Mental Health

In an average month:
• 43 Hate Crime incidents will occur
• There are 235 Public Order offences
• 2 Anti-Social Behaviour Contracts are issued
• The Community Rehabilitation Company will deliver rehabilitation group work to 104 offenders
• 30 defective fire alarms are replaced by The Fire Service
• There are 150 violent crimes resulting in an injury

In an average year:
• There is 1 Homicide
• 236 new cases of Anti-Social Behaviour are dealt with by the Local Authority.
• 867 Safe and Well Visits are delivered by the Fire Service
• There are 912 Road Traffic Collisions reported to the Police.
• There are 804 missing person reports
• 66 families are supported by the Children’s and Young Persons Domestic Violence Worker

C O M M U N I T Y  S A F E T Y  P L A N  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 1

1

43

12,500

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 129



Some key achievements throughout the life of the last Plan include:

Protecting Vulnerable People
• Increased frequency of MARAC meetings to provide quicker interventions for victims of 
Domestic Abuse
• Increased the number of Independent Domestic Violence Advocates dealing with high-risk 
victims
• Introduced an early-intervention process for standard-risk victims of Domestic Abuse to reduce 
the risk of escalation
• Launched a Domestic Abuse Strategy, which will be revised in 2018.
• Piloted a Behaviour Change programme to work with Perpetrators of Domestic Abuse
• Launched a new emergency accommodation project for victims of Domestic Abuse
• Following a violent disorder neighbourhood Police teams commenced a programme of 
working with the residents of a caravan park in order to forge stronger relationships with this 
isolated community.
• A Children’s and Young Persons Domestic Violence Worker was appointed to support families 
where Domestic Violence & Abuse was a factor.
• More than 100 people have completed a Domestic Abuse Support Group session at Children’s 
Centres.  

Transforming Justice
• At the end of 2015 Bury began a pilot to divert female adult offenders out of the criminal justice 
system. The scheme is run in conjunction with Women of Worth who are a GMCA funded charity 
supporting vulnerable women. In the last two and a half years, 81 female adult offenders have 
been referred to the scheme for support as an alternative to prosecution. The scheme has seen 
some significant successes, not only reducing the re-offending rate (8%) lower than that of the 
national average (19%) but also identifying domestic abuse as a link to offending. 
• Co-location of services with Police, CRC and Probation has led to improved flow of information 
and enhanced Partnership working.

Reducing Crime & ASB
• ASB was down 26% in the 12 months to April 2018
• Developed place-based working approaches to manage ASB and crime
• Community Groups funded using Proceeds of Crime monies to fund schemes with a focus on a 
reduction in ASB.

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS FOR 2014-17

C O M M U N I T Y  S A F E T Y  P L A N  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 1

Resilient Communities
• Developed a co-ordinated approach across 
Partnership to Social Media campaigns
• Ran a number of campaigns across Hate 
Crime, ASB and Domestic Abuse both across 
GM footprint and more local, targeted 
campaigns
• Undertook a significant amount of training 
with schools, professionals and in 
communities around Hate Crime, Prevent, 
Cohesion and Domestic Abuse
• Worked with Town Centre colleagues to 
regain Purple Flag accreditation for Bury 
Town Centre
• Opened a number of Hate Crime Reporting 
Centres across Bury. We now have more Hate 
Crime Reporting Centres per capita than any 
other area in Greater Manchester
• Relaunched Strategic Interfaith Group as 
Bury Faith Forum with Faith Groups taking 
ownership

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 130



C O M M U N I T Y  S A F E T Y  P L A N  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 1

P R I O R I T Y  1

This priority reflects our core business and 
recognises the range of needs that many 
vulnerable people who come into contact with 
partner agencies have, so that we create a 
more person-centred approach to 
vulnerability and victimisation. 

As such, we would like to see significant 
progress in some specific crime types such 
as Modern Slavery but also see 
improvements in outcomes for vulnerable 
individuals involved in any crime type or 
antisocial behaviour. In this approach we are 
prioritising children and vulnerable adults as 
our focus of safeguarding.

Who will deliver this? 
Domestic Abuse Strategic Group, Domestic 
Abuse Forum, Community Safety Partnership. 

This contributes to Priorities 1, 2 & 3 from the 
GM Standing Together Plan.

PROTECT AND 
SUPPORT 
VULNERABLE 
PEOPLE AREAS OF FOCUS

Victims of domestic abuse and sexual violence - including Female Genital Mutilation (FGM), 
Forced Marriage and ‘honour’ based violence

What we will do
• Ensure that all potential victims are accessing services, with specific 
emphasis on Minority Groups and older people.
• Bring together key Partners from Statutory Services and Voluntary Sector to ensure a 
co-ordinated approach where services are jointly commissioned.
• Ensure frontline and specialist services are up-skilled to be able to identify; approach; engage 
and rehabilitate perpetrators of abuse to prevent re-victimisation.
• Build on existing Early Intervention & Prevention approaches to stop Domestic Abuse from 
happening in the first place.
• Undertake systematic gathering of intelligence (particularly softer intelligence) to inform 
service delivery.

Child Sexual Exploitation

What we will do
• Work with Partners to prevent and tackle CSE through awareness-raising in communities, 
front-line training for agencies and robust enforcement action against offenders.
• Contribute to the Child Sexual Exploitation and Missing From Home Strategy
• Develop information sharing protocols with Safeguarding Boards and appropriate Sub-Groups

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 131



C O M M U N I T Y  S A F E T Y  P L A N  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 1

AREAS OF FOCUS

Improve pathways to enable victims to access support they need

What we will do
• Identify gaps in, and opportunities to improve, support services for victims of crime, identifying 
any barriers and sharing ‘what works’, with a particular focus on ‘Early Help’. 
• Improve quality of response to victims of Hate Crime.
• Identify opportunities to strengthen the victim services model through local integration and 
collaborative working with other support services. 
• Proactively identify opportunities to intervene early to prevent harm.

PUTTING VICTIMS FIRST

Being a victim of crime can undermine a person’s confidence and make them unhappy or 
frightened. It can affect a person’s outlook on life. The Criminal Justice System should be 
service-orientated, with the victim at the centre of all it does. Victims and witnesses of crime and 
anti-social behaviour deserve the very best treatment, service and outcomes possible to help 
them cope, recover and thrive.

Who will deliver this? 
Victim Services Co-ordinator for the Police will lead on much of this work supported by all Task 
& Finish Groups.

This contributes to Priority 1 from the GM Standing Together Plan.

P R I O R I T Y  2

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 132



C O M M U N I T Y  S A F E T Y  P L A N  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 1

Managing repeat offenders remains a key 
priority not only for Bury but nationally. 
Statistics estimate that around half of all 
crime is committed by individuals with 
previous convictions with an estimated cost 
to the taxpayer of £9.5 to £13 billion per year. 
Alongside this are the Personal and 
Community impacts of crime which make 
this one of the most important issues facing 
the Partnership.

Who will deliver this? 
Reducing Re-offending Group, IOM 
Partnership Meeting, Community Safety 
Partnership. 

This contributes to Priority 2 from the GM 
Standing Together Plan

REDUCE 
RE-OFFENDING AREAS OF FOCUS

Strategic Approach

What we will do
• Create a single, integrated multi-agency plan for reducing offending and re-offending 
• Develop and monitor referral pathways/ access to key services to ensure offenders have the 
support they need to stop offending

Restorative Justice

What we will do
• Develop an effective Restorative Justice model for Adults and Youths

Out of court disposals

What we will do
• Development of effective out of court disposals as an alternative to the Criminal Justice System 
(where there is evidence of a reduction in recividism)

P R I O R I T Y  3

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 133



C O M M U N I T Y  S A F E T Y  P L A N  2 0 1 8 - 2 0 2 1

With a population that is becoming 
increasingly diverse it is important to work 
actively to identify changing issues and 
maintain Bury’s high level of cohesion. 

As Regional, National and International 
events unfold we must respond quickly and 
effectively where there are tensions to be 
addressed. Our concern is not just with race 
and culture - it also examines the many 
factors that could divide our local community 
such as social class, prejudice and 
discrimination on the grounds of age, gender, 
disability, faith or sexual orientation.

Additionally, we cannot underestimate the 
positive impact that access to safe public 
spaces, organised sport and culture can have 
both on a community’s wellbeing and levels 
of crime and we will work together with 
partners to promote these ideals. 

Who will lead on this work? 
Hate Crime Forum & Prevent Steering Group.

This contributes to Priorities 1,2 and 3 from 
the GM Standing Together Plan.

AREAS OF FOCUS

Hate Crime

What we will do
• Develop a new Hate Crime Strategy aimed at understanding, preventing and tackling Hate Crime 
in Bury. 
• Undertake targeted work with Perpetrators of Hate Crime in hotspots.
• Work closely with communities to raise awareness and encourage reporting of Hate Crime.

Prevent

What we will do
• Challenge the ideology of extremism, and provide support for individuals who are vulnerable to 
radicalisation.
• Ensure systems and training are in place to encourage professionals and members of the public 
to report relevant concerns.

Community Cohesion

What we will do
• Ensure that we are having efficient, representative engagement with communities and actively 
seeking to implement public feedback in delivering our services.

BUILD STABLE,
COHESIVE 
COMMUNITIES

P R I O R I T Y  4

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 134



AREAS OF FOCUS

Neighbourhood Delivery Model

What we will do
• Contribute to the development of the PSR Hub and effective place-based initiatives 

Integrated working

What we will do
• Seek closer alignment with key Partner Boards to improve opportunities for joint working and 
reduce duplication.

ASB

What we will do
• Ensure that efforts to address Anti-Social Behaviour are intertwined with the PSR Hub processes 
and that the whole borough benefits from a Partnership approach.

Public Sector Reform is changing the face of how services are delivered. Community Safety 
Partners are at the forefront of meeting these challenges and are driving transformational change 
and redesign of services by developing new partnerships and ways of integrating delivery to 
provide services that are fundamentally better.

Who will deliver this? 
All partners.

This contributes to Priority 3 from the GM Standing Together Plan.

C O M M U N I T Y  S A F E T Y  P L A N  2 0 1 8 - 2 0 2 1

DEVELOP A PARTNERSHIP APPROACH 
TO COMMUNITY SAFETY

P R I O R I T Y  5

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 135



 
STRUCTURE

Delivery will be via an Action Plan developed 
through the Community Safety Partnership 
which will set out what each of the Task and 
Finish Groups detailed in the structure will do 
to achieve the objectives identified under the 
5 Priorities. 

A key action of the Partnership is to 
co-ordinate delivery, bring partners together 
and identify resources and skills in order to 
achieve the best possible outcomes.

Performance Management
The action plan will be built around a robust 
outcome-based performance management 
framework to review and monitor progress. 
The plan will be reviewed and refreshed 
annually.

DELIVERING 
THE PLAN

C O M M U N I T Y  S A F E T Y  P L A N  2 0 1 8 - 2 0 2 1

COMMUNITY SAFETY
PARTNERSHIP

GREATER MANCHESTER
COMBINED AUTHORITY

TEAM BURY
WIDER LEADERSHIP

HEALTH AND
WELLBEING BOARD

SAFEGUARDING
BOARDS

REDUCING
RE-OFFENDING

DVA STRATEGIC
GROUP

ORGANISED CRIME
GROUP

HATE CRIME
FORUM

PREVENT STEERING
GROUP

JOINT ENGAGEMENT
TEAM

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 136



If you need help understanding this document:

Contact: Community Safety Manager
Service: Bury Council, Community Safety Team
Email: communitysafetyteam@bury.gov.uk
Tel: 0161 253 5099

Address: Room 26, Bury Town Hall,  
Knowsley Street, Bury. BL9 0SW

Document Pack Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



Council Questions – 28 November 2018

Q. Party Question
1. Conservative What is the Leader’s view on the current situation regarding the lack of 

school buses for Radcliffe Children attending Tottington High School? 
Councillor P.Cropper

Cllr Cathcart The local authority does not have a direct role in the provision of 
school bus services to mainstream schools, nor does it fund 
specific bus services.

The LA has raised this issue of bus services to Tottington High 
School from Radcliffe, with colleagues in Transport for Greater 
Manchester, as part of a wider discussion about how school bus 
services are provided across the area. This forms part of a review 
of school bus services is being carried out by TfGM.

From a TfGM perspective, the pattern of provision of school bus 
services has evolved inconsistently over time, with some schools 
being well served and other schools less so. With finite resources, 
TfGM now find it difficult to prioritise to meet emerging needs 
because of the custom and practice that exists in maintaining 
existing routes. The LA will continue to work with TfGM to inform 
this review so that better use can be made of the available 
resources. That said, it will still be a matter for TfGM to determine 
how it allocates future resources to meet the needs of individual 
communities and school.

2. Labour Can the Leader give us information about how the £200k anti-
poverty/homeless will be spent to help the most deprived residents in our 
Borough?    Cllr J Walker 

Cllr Kelly A series of proposals have, and are continuing to be, developed, 
aligned to the Borough’s refreshed anti-poverty strategy. These 
include increasing the provision of dedicated debt advice to 
vulnerable residents (in terms of dealing with current debt levels 
and advice around benefit claims to ensure people are claiming 
what they are entitled to) whilst focusing this on promoting earlier 
intervention given that a lot of people don’t volunteer to engage in 
financial management until it has already become debt 
management. This will be likely be through additional resource at 
Whittaker Street and for the CAB. 

A further proposal relates to support for residents accessing 
digital services and improving skills, be it in terms of increasing 
confidence in using digital tools, or supporting the access to 
equipment such as through potential loans (either of equipment 
directly or through the Credit union to borrow funds to purchase 
equipment). 

Another proposal centres around support to care leavers on 
sustaining housing tenancies. The Council has a duty as the 

Document Pack Page 139 Agenda Item 6



Council Questions – 28 November 2018

corporate parent to young people who are leaving care. Moving to 
your first tenancy is difficult for young people and the 
management of bills and a property as well as moving into work. 
The worker would support young people and help them to ensure 
that they don’t fall into the poverty trap. Housing support will be 
provided to care leavers in Bury who may be at risk of unstable 
tenancies or homelessness due to their specific vulnerabilities.  
Also on the topic of housing a proposal is looking at additional 
resource to be a Housing Association Liaison worker to support 
customers that are leaving supported accommodation. The 
Housing Associations have a vast supply of properties in Bury and 
we need to ensure that the property allocation reduces family and 
individuals moving into poverty and homelessness. The post would 
also work with providers and residents affected by the review of 
floating support and supported accommodation

Nutrition is a further area where the fund can provide support. 
This includes enabling the development of a sustainable food bank 
in Bury Town Centre whilst conversations are taking place with 
our colleague in the voluntary sector or promoting social and 
health eating, including addressing holiday hunger, with a focus 
on access to fresh produce and how to make the best use of this. 

The relevant portfolio holders have reviewed initial proposals and 
are fine tuning them to ensure suitable performance arrangements 
are in place so that it can be clearly shown how this funding is 
making a difference for local people.

3 Labour Could the Leader provide an update on the progress regarding the “I will if 
you will” legacy?  Cllr J Walker    

Cllr Preston I Will If You Will is a National Place Based Pilot to establish what 
will get Women and Girls aged 14+ more active more often.
In May 2013, Bury was selected as the only place in the country to 
deliver this pilot programme and was funded by National Lottery 
funds through Sport England. 
 
I Will If You Will is still going strong and is proving a great legacy 
for the original investment which ended in 2017, with Bury 
Council’s commitment to carry the programme on to 2020 as a 
minimum.   During this time I Will If You Will has helped support 
and change the sport & physical activity attitudes, & behaviours of 
the people of Bury with over 25,000 people taking part in the 
activities, and 83% of these being female. Many more have been 
influenced by the campaign but independently taking part in their 
own sporting journeys. 

The dedicated website directs people to activities through the 
borough and the successful Facebook & Twitter channels have 
over 13,000 followers & likes which allows the people of Bury to 
feel part of the IWIYW Community as they support each other to 
be more active.  We still have over 80 weekly activities in our 

Document Pack Page 140



Council Questions – 28 November 2018

communities which allow people to try something new and find 
the right activities for them. 

Initial capital funding through IWIYW on new outdoor gyms, new 
netball courts & refurbished tennis courts in our Green Flag Parks 
still continue to service our communities and are used all year 
round which is great legacy from IWIYW. Additionally our 
strengthened relationship with the Lawn Tennis Association (LTA) 
has brought additional investment in to Bury to further improve 
our tennis courts and find a sustainable model for the future.  

Each year supported by IWIYW we have the fabulous mass 
participation event that everyone can be involved in - the Bury 10k 
and Family Fun Run.  Each year over 1,500 people have signed up 
to take part in these events, for many of which it has been their 
first ever event of this kind. 100’s more volunteer to support the 
event or line the streets to cheer our heroes around the route. We 
do hope to see more of you there at the next one on Sunday 15th 
September 2019. 

Lastly the people of Bury, our biggest asset have provided a great 
legacy of IWIYW.  Through their involvement with IWIYW 
activities and the supportive programmes, many of our residents 
have changed their lives for the better.  We know examples of 
residents who have turned their lives around improving their own 
physical health, and improving their mental health whilst some 
have also successfully challenged their depression or social 
isolation, they’ve made new friends and supportive groups and all 
whilst being more active more often, trying something new and 
having fun whilst they do so.

4 Conservative Could the Leader provide an update on the current status of the former 
library properties and how community use is to be encouraged by the 
Council? Councillor M.Hankey

Cllr O’Brien  Tottington Library

This building has been leased to the community group Friends of 
Tottington Library and is now established as The Tottington 
Centre.  It provides various community facilities including space 
used for meetings, clubs and activities, computer availability, a 
book lending service, a programme of events and a newly open tea 
room.

Dumers Lane Library

The Dumers Lane Community Association have now taken a lease 
of this property, which is now up and running with various 
community based clubs and activities being accommodated.  This 

Document Pack Page 141



Council Questions – 28 November 2018

is in addition to a small library service which has been made 
possible through a large stock of books, CDs and DVDs being 
donated to the community group by the Council. 

Topping Fold Library

A lease of the property to the Topping Fold Community Association 
has recently been completed, with an opening date to the 
community imminent. The Association is to run various activities 
for community groups, including Beasties youth club, in 
conjunction with GM Police.  Adult disability services continue to 
be provided from the property by Persona, the Council’s care 
provider and a small library service will be provided through stock 
donated by the Library Service.

Coronation Road Library

These premises are being used by the Councils Community 
Neighbourhood Team, as a base for community engagement, 
capacity building and development. Neighbourhood working aims 
to tackle issues that adversely impact on people's quality of life, 
their health and wellbeing and aspirations. The approach is to 
actively engage local residents, with the aim of improving the 
environment where they live.

Unsworth Library

Elms Bank College are using the former library as a base to help 
pupils with special educational needs integrate with the 
community.  Facilities are being developed to create a community 
hub and are to include library internships, where college students 
gain confidence dealing with customers and working alongside 
members of the community. 

Whitefield Library

Temporary use is being made of the building by Elms Bank School 
for educational purposes whilst work undertaken on main school 
site. Redevelopment options are currently being considered which 
will be taken forward in 2019.

As is clearly demonstrated by these success stories, the Council, in 
making buildings available for use by the community, has allowed 
facilities to be kept open which otherwise could have been the 
victims of ongoing central government cuts.  Creating capacity 
within the community, through initiatives such as this, is certainly 
seen as vital component of improving health, wellbeing and 

Document Pack Page 142



Council Questions – 28 November 2018

sustainability within our neighbourhoods. 

5 Labour Given concerns raised last month by the Home Affairs Select Committee 
around support for victims of domestic abuse, what are we doing in Bury 
to support victims of domestic abuse and domestic violence?  Cllr Haroon       

Cllr Tariq Members will no doubt be aware of the growing issue of Domestic 
Violence & Abuse nationally and in Bury. With Domestic Violence & 
Abuse comprising 14% of all crime in Bury and costing an 
estimated £53 million we recognise how critical it is to tackle the 
issue. Not to mention the human cost of individuals, children and 
extended families - Chairing the Domestic Violence & Abuse 
Strategic Group I frequently hear about the terrible impact that it 
can have.

Domestic Violence & Abuse can affect anyone from any 
background. It is a multi-faceted issue with many different causes 
and therefore many different solutions. This is why it takes a 
uniquely co-ordinated approach involving all partners to develop 
programmes to address these issues.

Yesterday we launched our new Domestic Violence & Abuse 
Strategy which details how we intend to tackle this issue over the 
coming years. It identifies a number of priorities which we know 
will address the underlying issues. It is an ambitious plan with the 
ultimate aim of fostering:

• A safer, more supportive place to live for individuals and groups 
at risk of Domestic Violence and Abuse 

and

• An informed population who know how to access help and 
support related to Domestic Violence and Abuse

The launch coincided with the international 16 days of action 
which is an awareness-raising campaign aimed at galvanizing 
action to end violence against women and girls around the world. 
The Greater Manchester Deputy Mayor Bev Hughes attended the 
launch event yesterday and spoke about the work that has already 
begun on a GM Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy to 
which Bury are actively contributing. 

The event also showcased all of the services that work in the field 
of Domestic Violence & Abuse and gave an opportunity for 
professionals to exchange ideas and discuss how to best 
implement the strategy.

The Strategy has been developed into an Action Plan which 
provides the framework around which this work is being 
developed and I know that it will bring about the changes we need 
to address this issue.

Document Pack Page 143



Council Questions – 28 November 2018

As member responsible for Communities & Safer Neighbourhoods 
I am determined that we will make great strides in the next few 
weeks, months and years to really get underneath this issue and 
make a real difference for the people of Bury. I will update you 
further as the situation develops.

6 Labour Can we please have an update on the Social Capital Fund that was 
announced earlier this year? Cllr McGill

Cllr Tariq Bury Council, in conjunction with the Leader of the Council, 
Councillor Rishi Shori, allocated £600,000 to communities to fund 
social capital projects (nominally £100,000 per Neighbourhood). 
The funding was made available to further give power to the 
people of Bury in bidding for monies that derive local benefits. The 
funding emphasises Bury Council’s belief that local people know 
their own communities best and know what will make a real 
difference in their neighbourhood. It also recognises that people in 
Bury are keen and willing to make their projects work. This is a 
further mechanism to devolve the power of decision making to 
local people, putting them at the heart of everything we do.

The Social Capital Fund is a one off fund to be used over a three 
year period and as the opening date for applications approached in 
early September the Neighbourhood Engagement Team worked 
extensively with local groups and projects to offer support and 
advice to potential applicants. Following the closing date for 
applications in late October we had received an amazing 73 
applications, which demonstrates the tremendous network of 
groups we have across the borough. Following an initial screening 
and scoring process a shortlist of projects has now been produced 
and a final decision panel will sit in early December to finalise the 
allocation of the fund. 

Once again let me say what a tremendous response we have had 
to the funding being made available and we look forward to seeing 
the tangible impact the many and varied projects that will receive 
funding will make to the people of Bury.

7 Conservative Despite repeated requests to suspend the bus lanes on Bolton Road, no 
response has been forthcoming. Would the Leader please inform members 
whether the proposed feasibility study regarding the impact of the Bolton 
Road bus lanes on traffic congestion has been carried out and what 
conclusion has been reached? Councillor J.Harris

Cllr Quinn A transportation study of Bury and Radcliffe commissioned by the 
Council reported back in May this year.  The study has identified 
207 potential interventions that require further investigation.  Of 
these, 7 interventions relate to bus including a corridor-wide 
review of bus priority along the A58 to improve reliability and 
resilience of services.  All interventions need to be investigated 
further but, prior to doing so, the traffic modelling currently being 
undertaken on the Council’s behalf by Transport for Greater 

Document Pack Page 144



Council Questions – 28 November 2018

Manchester (TfGM) needs to be completed so that a view can be 
taken on the future traffic volumes on the A58 in the context of 
the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework and associated housing 
pressures in the region.  This will then inform the extents of 
infrastructure upgrades required on the highway network to 
facilitate such development.  The future of the bus lane on the A58 
will be considered as part of this process which still has many 
months to run.  Given the complexities of understanding future 
housing demands, traffic growth, population growth, the role of 
public transport, air quality, structural changes to the highway 
network etc. and in order to consider these factors holistically, it is 
not anticipated that the Council will be in a position to fully 
determine the role of the A58 bus lane inside of the next 18 
months.

Furthermore, TfGM are now also undertaking a review of the A58 
in its role as an orbital route between Wigan, Bolton, Bury, 
Rochdale and Oldham as part of the Streets for All initiative.  The 
Council is working with TfGM on this and will be monitoring how 
bus fits into the overall picture which will inform the Council’s 
approach to the future of the A58 bus lane.

8 Labour Can the Leader up date the Council on the number of the new business 
start-ups in the borough over the last 12 months?  Cllr James

Cllr Shori The Red Flag Alert Start-up Index has recently published a report 
focusing on business start-ups launched in 2017.

This report recognises Bury as the most entrepreneurial area in 
Greater Manchester, with 5,644 start-ups launched in Bury 
throughout 2017. To put this into context, the report identified 
that in 2017:

- Bury had 29 business start-ups per 1,000 residents.
- Manchester had 16 business start-ups per 1,000 residents.
- Wigan had 5 business start-ups per 1,000 residents.

Quoting the Managing Director of Red Flag Alert, Mark Halstead, 
“Bury is leaps and bounds ahead of any district in Greater 
Manchester when it come to the rate of new companies being 
launched in 2017”. There are various contributory factors to this 
positive news, including:

- The well-established Bury Means Business brand, which 
embeds and promotes business support. 

Bury Council has developed an Offer to Employers and adopted a 
single point of contact approach for existing and prospective 
businesses. 

The Bury Means Business website, independent to the Bury 
Council website, is also live; sharing key information and updates 

Document Pack Page 145



Council Questions – 28 November 2018

with our indigenous and prospective business base.

- Bury Council continues to co-fund a Business Growth 
Advisor, who specialises in supporting all businesses, that trade 
business to business, with high growth potential. This is a 
dedicated resource available to only Bury businesses.

- Bury Council has invested £50,000 into the Start Smart 
project, which is delivered by People Plus. This project, which 
started in March 2018 and remains funded until February 2019, 
offers tailored business start-up support from the conception of a 
business idea up until the third year of trading. Support is in the 
form of 1 to 1s, group workshops, mentoring and peer to peer 
support.

Up until September 2018, the Start Smart contract had:

- Engaged 66 prospective business start-up clients, with 52 clients 
remaining on the programme and 8 businesses assisted to start 
trading.
- Engaged 30 post-start businesses, with 15 businesses remaining 
on programme and 5 assists being completed.

-Bury Council has invested £10,000 into the Made in Bury Business 
Academy. Selected Bury businesses, within the first 2 years of 
trading, are enrolled onto a structured series of learning 
workshops along with peer to peer support.  

Businesses are most likely to cease trading within the first few 
years of trading. So whilst Red Flag Alert’s report is positive, the 
ongoing support through Bury Means Business; the Council’s 
business friendly policies; and the Start Smart project is key to 
sustaining these businesses in the long term.

9 Lib Dem Could the Leader inform members what budgetary constraints there are 
on the introduction of Resident’s Parking Schemes? How many schemes 
are currently subject to consideration by officers?  Councillor D’Albert

Cllr Kelly There is no specific budget set aside for the introduction or 
maintenance of residents parking schemes and any setting up 
costs are taken from a wider planned improvement parking 
budget.  The income from permits, however, does offset these 
costs to some measure.  Residents parking schemes schemes are 
not planned for or programmed into budgets as the Council reacts 
to requests by residents for their introduction rather than seeking 
to proactively install them.

There are currently 2 residents parking schemes being considered 
by officers.  The first is the Kingswood Road area in Prestwich.  
This scheme has recently been formally advertised.  The second is 

Document Pack Page 146



Council Questions – 28 November 2018

the Barlow Street area in Radcliffe.  No consultation have yet been 
carried out in this area and its anticipated the first stage 
consultation will be carried out in the next couple of months.

We are currently reviewing the process and policies for 
determining which residents parking schemes should be approved.

10 Labour         In the Chancellor's October Budget it was claimed that the Government would 
end austerity. Can the Leader of the Council confirm if austerity has ended 
for local government funding? Cllr McGill

Cllr O’Brien Unfortunately I cannot confirm that austerity has ended for Local 
Government – in fact it’s the opposite…

Funding reductions continue for this, and the next financial year.

The position for Bury is more acute given the inequitable 
distribution of resources nationally.

By 2020, we will have faced funding reductions of 70% and made 
cuts totalling £97 million.

This is alongside continuing demand pressures primarily in 
Childrens and Adult Social Care.

We grapple daily with the challenge of doing more with less, and 
trying to maintain a balanced budget.

We have put a number of additional measures in place to support 
us with this including creating 3 dedicated officer groups (from 
existing resources) to review the overall budget position, provide 
technical support to delivery of savings plans, and to review all of 
our 3rd party spend.

Beyond 2020, we await the outcome of the Government’s Fair 
Funding Review – to see if it addresses the known anomalies in 
the current funding regime.

 

11 Conservative  As we are advised that the GMSF is now approaching its fourth 
postponement by the GM Mayor, when can we expect it to be published 
and how long will the Mayor allow for consultation with the residents of 
Greater Manchester? Councillor R.Walker

Cllr O’Brien The next draft of the GMSF has been hampered by various 
interventions that have been outside of Greater Manchester’s 
control.  Firstly, the Office for National Statistics released its 
population projections, which indicated a reduced level of 
population growth across the country, including in Greater 

Document Pack Page 147



Council Questions – 28 November 2018

Manchester and indeed Bury.  These were then followed by 
household projections, which again showed a reduced level of 
growth than was previously projected. 

As these are key to what the GMSF is actually planning for – it was 
‘put on hold’ whilst we could consider the implications of these 
projections. 

However – the Government has since then come out and said that 
all local planning authorities should completely ignore the latest 
projections and plan for the level of household growth in the last 
projections.  On this basis, we are looking to consult on the plan 
early in the New Year over a period that will need to be confirmed 
by the combined authority.

12 Labour Could the Leader give members more information regarding the recent 
visit to Bury Council by senior civil servants from The People’s Republic of 
China and the significance of this important visit? Councillor Holt

Cllr Kelly The delegation of 14 was a senior level national government 
research visit into best practice in human resources, training and 
management.  It was led by Director General of the Chinese Centre 
for Training Senior Civil Servants, a Division of the Ministry of 
Human Resources & Social Welfare, and featured representation of 
various services in the Chinese government, including the National 
Health Commission, Social Security, Forestry and Disaster 
Management.  They were in the UK for a 2 week factfinding 
mission.  The arrangements to come to Bury were very last minute 
with the Council only being approached a few days before the 
arrival.  We believe that Bury’s profile and reputation for expertise 
and projects in the Far East was drawn to their attention when 
they arrived in Greater Manchester by the China Liaison company 
which has supported us previously in our dealings with Datong. 

The delegation received a presentation about Bury’s HR and staff 
development approach from Tracy Murphy, Assistant Director of 
Resources and Regulation, supported by Tony Trehy from Culture. 

Although it was an opportunist visit which we were able to 
respond to at short notice, I think we can be pleased that behind it 
was the high regard that Bury is held in China, a standing that we 
can mobilise to support business and other links benefiting local 
people.

13 Labour There are still record numbers of homeless on the streets of GM and 
winter is approaching.  Could the Leader tell council what we are doing to 
help the homeless?       Cllr David Jones

Cllr O’Brien Once again Bury Council is teaming up with FC United to help with 
their annual Big Coat Day.  We’re asking the residents of Bury to 
drop off any surplus winter clothing that’s in good condition at the 
reception of the town hall.  We’ll then deliver this to FC United 
who will organise the distribution to the homeless of GM working 

Document Pack Page 148



Council Questions – 28 November 2018

in conjunction with established charities.

From the 1st November there has been a GM approach by all 10 
Local authorities to the cold weather provision for rough sleepers. 
The initiative is called ‘A Bed for Every Night‘. This provision will 
run from the 1st November until the 31st March 2019 and all Bury 
referrals and access to this provision are coordinated and 
managed by the Housing Assessment team in partnership with the 
Freedom Church.  This will ensure regardless of cold weather that 
anyone sleeping rough or homeless on the streets of Bury will 
have a bed, food and cleaning provisions. Linked into ABEN will be 
support to help provide sustainable and long term solutions to the 
individual’s needs and requirements to help break the cycle of 
rough sleeping. This initiative is an enhanced and improved 
provision compared to the normal cold weather provision.  

A physical rough sleeper count was carried in Bury on the 15th 
November and there were 3 rough sleepers across the Borough.  
Historically on average we have had 10 rough sleepers across 
Bury. Through the enhanced ABEN provision we have a 15 bed 
space provision for winter. There are currently 3 rough sleepers 
using the provision.

14 Conservative Would the Leader agree that with the onset of Winter, salt /grit bins are 
essential. Would the Leader confirm there is a system in place in Bury 
whereby the location and condition of such bins are examined to ensure 
their effectiveness? Councillor K.Hussain

Cllr Quinn There are approximately 350 grit bins across the borough which 
are filled by staff in the Councils street cleaning service. The grit 
bins are in place at known trouble spots across the borough such 
as sharp bends or steep inclines and where historically snow and 
ice have caused serious problems.

Locations are reviewed as required and the existing list is based 
on areas of highest priority. No new grit bins have been provided 
for a few years and the Council does not have the budget or 
resources to provide or fill any additional grit bins

The grit bins will be inspected and filled within the next 2 week 
and will be replenished as required through the winter period. It 
takes about 60 tonnes of salt for each refill.

15 Labour Will the Leader join me in congratulating all those groups and individuals 
who won awards at the Bury Sports Awards and can the Leader give us an 
overview of how accessible sports in Bury is to all individuals regardless of 
ability? Cllr Leach

Cllr Simpson Bury Sport and Physical Activity Service hosted a fantastic event 
to celebrate the sporting achievements from our communities, 
with 144 people in attendance at the Bury Elizabethan Suite in 
October.  The Bury winners progressed as finalists to the Greater 

Document Pack Page 149



Council Questions – 28 November 2018

Manchester Sports Awards event in November, resulting in a Bury 
winner…with Vivien Makin (Hockey) being crowned the Greater 
Manchester Unsung Hero!

We are already aware that inactivity is more common for those 
with a disability or health condition than those without and the 
Active Lives survey update indicates that only 45.1% of those with 
a long term disability are active. 

Bridging The Gap (BtG) is a three year project funded through 
Sport England and has enabled 39 organisations and groups to 
develop new opportunities for circa 1750 people with a disability 
or health condition to be more active. 

Bury Wheels For All is part of a national inclusive cycling network 
managed locally at Clarence Park and Bury Athletics Track. As well 
as being a key part of the annual Accessible Festival, has worked 
in partnership with 13 organisations utilising the service as well 
as over 260 attendances at the Saturday sessions.

To ensure each of our leisure centres become more welcoming 
with accessible environments for disabled people, Castle Leisure 
Centre achieved the ‘IFI’ accreditation with Ramsbottom Leisure 
Centre and Radcliffe Leisure Centre working towards accreditation 
in 2019. Bury also hosted a LEAD workshop designed to support 
organisations in their delivery of best practice in disability 
equality, with representatives from 15 organisations to self-assess 
our structure, vision and current provision for disabled people and 
assisted the development of an improvement plan.

Communities and Wellbeing colleagues recently represented Bury 
at the GM Active Everyone Can Focus Group to understand what 
barriers prevent leisure operators from becoming more inclusive. 

Finally, a new annual survey through ‘One Community’ is soon to 
be shared with all of our community sports clubs. As part of the 
engagement we have asked them about their existing provision to 
improve accessibility and barriers to being more inclusive which 
will provide us with useful information.

16 Labour Can the Leader tell us of what the perceived benefits are of 
neighbourhood working and how it will benefit residents?   Cllr Whitby

Cllr Tariq Neighbourhood Working is intended to improve quality of life for 
our residents, reduce inequalities and put people in control of their 
own lives whilst at the same time ensuring sustainable services 
through improved efficiencies and reduced demand.

By bringing public services together with the voluntary, 
community and faith sector, businesses and academic institutions 
we will be able to align our resources behind common goals 
focused on neighbourhood footprints of approximately 30,000-
50,000 population.  This will bring services much closer to the 

Document Pack Page 150



Council Questions – 28 November 2018

people they are there to support and allow them to develop a 
deeper and shared understanding of communities and individuals 
in those neighbourhoods and develop partnerships with local 
people so they can both inform and become part of the solution.

17 Conservative Could the Leader confirm what is happening with 12 Tithebarn Street in 
the centre of our Borough which has been derelict for years having 
previously serving as a social centre for unemployed workers. With its 
overgrown side garden and two adjacent properties, does this not 
constitute an eyesore on the well used pedestrian route between the 
Millgate Centre and the Woodfield Retail Park? Councillor R.Walker

 
Cllr Shori The Council had been looking to assist with the provision of a 

publicly accessible food bank in the borough, to enhance the 
incredible work carried out by Porch Box in supporting our poorest 
residents.  Unfortunately it has become apparent that the funding 
required to bring the building up to an appropriate standard is 
prohibitive and so very recently the decision was made to look for 
alternative accommodation within or near to the town centre.  

As a result of this, the property is now being marketed to let, to 
generate rental income which will contribute to funding front line 
services. 

18 Lib Dem Next Saturday (1 December 2018) is the 30th World AIDS Day. Could the 
Leader outline what Bury Council, and our partners, are doing to support 
people who are living with HIV in the borough, and to tackle stigma and 
discrimination often faced by people with HIV? Councillor Pickstone

Cllr Simpson The council commissions PASH (Passionate about Sexual Health), 
an alliance of the Black Health Agency, George House Trust, and 
LGBT Foundation, from the Public Health Grant. The GM PaSH 
Partnership delivers a comprehensive programme of interventions 
to meet the changing needs of residents with a new diagnosis of 
HIV, living longer term with HIV, or at greatest risk of acquiring 
HIV.

George House Trust is commissioned as part of the PaSH 
partnership to provide support to people newly diagnosed and 
living longer term with HIV. The services they offer include a 
Health and Wellbeing assessment with one to one support from a 
team of Services Advisers, person centred counselling and 
informal peer support opportunities where people living with HIV 
can come together to socialise. They will also signpost to specialist 
organisations such as immigration or housing advice.  They have a 

Document Pack Page 151



Council Questions – 28 November 2018

good relationship with the Bury HIV consultant. (Bury Sexual 
Health Service provide screening, diagnosis, counselling, advice, 
treatment and support and education to patients newly diagnosed 
in their clinics). They have an online referral system to make it 
easy for sexual health clinic staff in Bury to refer HIV positive 
patients on.

Their Peer Mentoring Project ‘Better Together’ (funded by the Big 
Lottery Fund) matches trained Peer Mentors living with HIV to 
people who are looking for extra support. As part of the project, 
they have a Peer Mentor presence in Bury Sexual Health Clinic 
once per month so that people diagnosed with HIV can be 
introduced to someone else living with HIV.

Medical advances now mean that HIV is a manageable long term 
health condition when diagnosed early, but continuing levels of 
misunderstanding and a lack of up to date knowledge mean that 
HIV remains a highly stigmatised medical condition.

The PaSH partnership are very aware of the related obstacles still 
faced by people living with HIV and advocate for people both on 
an individual basis where this is necessary but also on a wider 
footprint where they have identified that discrimination is 
occurring.

Public Health have also commissioned ‘positive speakers’ in Bury 
for January. These are GHT training sessions aimed primarily at 
frontline healthcare staff, but can potentially be extended wider. 
The sessions are delivered by Positive Speakers living with HIV 
talking about their experiences and answering questions, covering 
issues such as routes of transmission,  challenging stigma , HIV 
testing, and the latest developments around HIV*.

*Launched in 2016, the Undetectable = Untransmittable (U=U) campaign 
is based on the following statement: “A person living with HIV who has 
undetectable viral load does not transmit HIV to their partners”. The 
campaign statement has been endorsed by leading scientific and medical 
organisations such as the International AIDS Society (IAS), UNAIDS, and 
the British HIV Association (BHIVA).

19 Labour  Can the Leader tell me what Bury’s involvement in National Takeover Day 
2018 has been) Cllr Leach   

Cllr Cathcart National Takeover day took place on 23 November. Secondary 
schools were asked to nominate young people in Bury’s care to 
this full day event last Friday, which was held in the Bury Council 
Chambers. 7 schools nominated 14 young people aged 11 to 14 
years. This year’s theme involved taking over the Corporate 
Parenting Board, an important issue for the young people in the 

Document Pack Page 152



Council Questions – 28 November 2018

Children in Care Council, who attend all Board meetings to provide 
the voice of children and young people in care to discussions. 10 
members of the Corporate Parenting Board plus 3 Independent 
Reviewing Officers attended the afternoon session.  

Take Over Day gave the young attendees an opportunity to 
understand more about the role of the Corporate Parenting Board 
and to think about how they could more effectively influence 
change. This event enabled members of the Board to gain a better 
understanding about the issues that young people in care are 
struggling with and a chance to have a longer discussion about 
these issues. 

The young people gave feedback to the Corporate Parenting Board 
on:-

 What qualities and skills the young people think Corporate 
Parents’ should have.

 Through drama, young people highlighted issues that affect 
them: the difference between the way foster carers treat 
their own children compared with the ones who are looked 
after, having different Social Workers and not being 
introduced to new ones and the number of placement 
moves.

 A pictorial display of the life of a child in care from birth to 
18 and some of the issues that affect them during their life. 
Again, placement moves and changes in Social Worker were 
a key point. 

The Corporate Parents were invited to take part in a full question 
and answer session with the young people. Questions and 
discussions were along the themes of:-

 The role of a person on the Corporate Parenting Board

 Placements and the stability of them.

 The location of foster placements

 Changes in Social Worker

 Education support

A full report will be written in the next few weeks and this will be 
shared with the participating schools and Children’s Services.

20 Labour Can the Leader provide an update on the progress of Peachment Place? 
Cllr Haroon

Document Pack Page 153



Council Questions – 28 November 2018

Cllr O’Brien The Council’s new flagship extra care scheme is nearing 
completion.  The majority of the works are complete and the 
contractor is in the process of undertaking a small amount of 
finishing work, including snagging.

Six Town Housing will be managing the scheme and Persona will 
be the care provider.  Staff from both organisations that will be 
working there will start to occupy the building from January 2019.  

The scheme will be let for affordable rent.  The rents and charges 
have now been agreed by the Council, including Councillor Eamonn 
O’Brien.

Prospective tenants can bid for one of the sixty properties from 
28/11/18 through the Council’s Choice Based Lettings system.  It 
is expected that a shortlist of eligible persons will be in place in 
December 2018, and visits and assessments of these people 
should be starting before Christmas.  We are looking at the first 
tenants starting to move in from the middle of January 2019 
onwards.  

A dedicated multi-disciplinary steering group of officers and 
several task and finish groups have been working together to 
ensure that the scheme will be a huge success.

John Healey, Shadow Secretary of State for Housing and Planning 
is due to visit the scheme, when he comes to Bury on 6th December 
2018.  A communications strategy is in place and there will be 
other PR opportunities as the above progresses.

21 Conservative  Would the Leader agree that the leaflet produced by the Waste 
Management Team encouraging Bury residents to sign up to a system 
whereby they are advised which bin to put out each week by way of e-
mail is excellent and could this system be extended to allow the Waste 
Management Team to likewise advise residents when their bin is not to be 
collected and the reason for this? Councillor I.Schofield

Cllr Quinn The number of households receiving e-mail alerts for all their bin 
collections is currently around 25,500.  This equates to over 35% 
of households that put their bins out for collection.  Flats on 
communal bins are excluded from these figures because they don’t 
have to put their bins out.  On average, subscriptions are rising by 
up to 5,000 per year.  Each year there is a slight spike in 
subscriptions during the months of December and January when 
replacement calendars and a promotional leaflet are delivered to 
all households.  
  

Document Pack Page 154



Council Questions – 28 November 2018

E-mail reminders are an invaluable aid in reminding residents 
which bin to put out on which day and is a low cost form of 
communication.  The service is FREE and promoted on an ongoing 
basis over the website, via the Customer Contact Centre and when 
the recycling team engage with residents.  A more intensive cross-
channel communication campaign is most likely needed to 
increase sign-ups at a faster pace than is currently the case.  

ICT is currently working with Waste Management to develop the 
reminder system to enable bespoke messages to be sent to 
addresses on a single bin collection round, a number of selected 
rounds or a part round.

Such messages might relate to the fact that it has not been 
possible to complete that day’s scheduled bin collections due to 
for example a vehicle breakdown or wintry weather, asking 
residents to please leave their bins out because we will be round 
to empty them tomorrow.  Further update messages could be sent 
to the same addresses if for example wintry conditions persist or 
worsen, meaning that it is not yet possible to return to empty the 
bins.  This enhanced messaging service should reduce the number 
of enquiries received by the Contact Centre and Councillors in such 
scenarios

22 Conservative What is the Councils plan to ensure safety and security in Whitefield 
following an increase in crime? Councillor N Jones

Cllr Tariq Members will no doubt be aware of the impact that austerity has 
had on the Police. Their ability investigate all crimes to the extent 
that they would like and their ability to Police as visibly have both 
been diminished. Crime in most parts of the Country has gone up 
overall but in Whitefield has actually reduced by nearly 10% over 
the last 12 months.

Although encouraging, Police and Partners are not complacent and 
they are actively taking action to address their concerns. Recently, 
Partners from multiple services undertook a ‘walkabout’ on the 
Victoria Estate following some concerns raised by residents about 
anti-social behaviour and we will continue to monitor the situation 
there and elsewhere as conditions change. 

There has been reduced capacity in Whitefield in recent months 
due to a PCSO being on long-term sick but this has now been 
addressed by a new PCSO joining the beat and he has been out 
patrolling every day.

In addition, there are plans for the Council’s Community Safety 
Service to be given access to two Transport for Greater 
Manchester CCTV cameras that currently just monitor traffic. This 
will provide some additional, local monitoring of crime and anti-
social behaviour and enable the service to direct Police and 
Security staff much more quickly than currently.

Document Pack Page 155



Council Questions – 28 November 2018

23 Lib Dem Can the Leader inform use what progress has been made on the Liberal 
Democrat motion for no idling zones outside schools? Councillor S 
Wright

Cllr Quinn As a result of recent cuts we have a very limited officer resource 
to deliver   formal “no idling“ zones at this time. 

However in February 2018 Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM) launched a vehicle anti-idling campaign to encourage 
drivers to switch off their engines when stationary near schools. 
The campaign included roadside signs, as well as an advertising 
and social media campaign to promote the message. 

Bury Council’s Public Health and Environmental Protection team 
contacted all Bury schools with a request that they  support the 
campaign by communicating the “anti- idling” message and 
provide information to parents, for example in parent/pupil 
newsletters or via social media. The schools were offered A3 size 
promotional banners to put on school gates or railings in areas 
where vehicles may idle, e.g. pick up/drop off areas. They were 
also signposted to a digital social media toolkit prepared by TfGM. 
We are aware that 2 schools took up the offer of banners to be 
placed outside their schools. Unfortunately we have insufficient 
officer resources to push this campaign or follow it up.  

In relation to our general air quality work it is essential that we 
concentrate our small officer resource into pursuing the most cost 
effective measures. The Government have recently required Bury 
and other Greater Manchester Councils to produce an Air Quality 
Action Plan to meet targets for a pollutant called nitrogen dioxide. 
80% of this pollutant comes from road transport and therefore we 
are working with Transport for Greater Manchester to produce the 
Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan. This plan has to be submitted 
to Government for approval by 31st December 2018. To identify 
the necessary actions we are adopting a scientific approach to 
assess a wide range of measures to allow us to meet targets in the 
shortest time possible. The proposed actions will represent the 
most suitable and cost effective actions to reduce pollution and 
protect health. Once the measures have been identified we will 
apply to DEFRA’s Clean Air Fund for the resources required to 
deliver the necessary actions. 

Delivery of this plan will allow us to direct our limited air quality 
resource to the priority measures that will have the largest impact 
on health. As a result the residents of Bury can be confident that 

Document Pack Page 156



Council Questions – 28 November 2018

we will be pursuing a package of measures that are shown to be 
the most appropriate and cost effective to improve their air quality 
and to protect their health.  

24 Conservative Has a check audit taken place in the level of grit in the Council’s grit boxes 
ahead of the winter season? Councillor N Jones

Cllr Quinn There are approximately 350 grit bins across the borough which 
are filed by staff in the Councils street cleaning service. The Duty 
Officers responsible for the delivery of the winter gritting service 
monitor the short, medium and longer term weather forecast on a 
continuous basis. All of the grit bins are filled at the start of the 
winter season and are replenished as required through the winter 
period. The grit bins will be filled over the next 2 weeks.

Unfortunately we do suffer from a problem of grit being taken for 
use on private drives and sometimes for resale. Therefore we 
deliberately do not fill the grit bins too far in advance of winery 
weather.

I can also inform you that Bury Council has a fleet of 5 gritting 
wagons, four in regular use and one kept as a spare in the event of 
a breakdown of one of the others. The gritting vehicles have been 
serviced and have already been in action several times this winter. 
In preparation for the winter season, Bury Council has a stock of 
2500 tonnes of Safecote treated salt stored at Bolton’s depot as 
well as a stock of untreated grit at Bradley Fold Depot which is 
used for filling the grit bins.

25 Lib Dem Could the Leader inform member of the number of fly tipping of incidents 
reported to the Council in the current year and previous there years, and 
what is the cost to the Council of dealing with this issue? Councillor S 
Wright

Cllr Quinn The following are the fly-tipping statistics as requested (by 
financial year)

2015/16 – 2714
2016/17 – 3830
2017/18 – 3574
2018/19 – 1876 (up to 21/11/18)

These figures include all fly-tip cases for all departments, recorded 
through the contact centre, and online.

The total annual budget for the Street Cleansing service is £1.4m. 
It is not possible to isolate the cost of dealing with fly-tipping as 
all crews also sweep streets, pick litter and empty litter bins.  

From an Environmental Health Service perspective, it is estimated 

Document Pack Page 157



Council Questions – 28 November 2018

that we have spent at least £30,000 per year staff time on fly-
tipping investigations.

26 Lib Dem On how many occasions, in the current year and in the previous three 
years, has the Council, or its contractors, used bailiffs to recover debts 
from residents or businesses?  Councillor D’Albert

Cllr Kelly The figures for  the number of accounts referred to the enforcement 
agencies are as follows:

Council Tax

2015/16 – 5494

2016/17 – 4371

2017/18 – 6352

2018/19 – 3515

Business Rates

2018/19 - 196 (to date)

2017/18 – 307

2016/17 – 325

2015/16 – 248

27 Lib Dem Could the Leader update members on the current waiting times 
experienced by children and young people using CAMHS services. What 
are the waiting times for appointments and the waiting times for 
treatment? Councillor Pickstone

Cllr Simpson Current waiting time for assessment and treatment is 6 weeks. 
Children and young people are also seen for urgent appointments 
within 7 days  priority appointment (within 2 weeks) if it is felt 
that a child or young person need to be assessed urgently.

Document Pack Page 158



                                                                                         

1

Bury Transport Brief - Summary

Metrolink – Overcrowding

1. Many parts of the Metrolink network would benefit from additional capacity.
2. Alongside KAM, TfGM try to deploy capacity where demand is at its highest to avoid disruptions and 

overcrowding on certain lines, particularly at peak times and during events.
3. Unfortunately, given the finite amount of trams available, the operator is limited in terms of how much 

additional capacity can be provided on all parts of the network.  
4. However, in July 2018 a £72m contract was signed that will see 27 new trams added to the Metrolink 

network.
5. The new trams will provide 4,800 extra spaces and will run more ‘double’ trams on the busiest lines.
6. The first tram is expected to arrive in February 2020, with other units following every month through to 

June 2021. This should alleviate some of the capacity issues that currently exist on the network.

Metrolink – Performance

1. As of October 2018, just over 42 million annual journeys took place across Metrolink. This represents a 
4.97% increase on the same period last year.

2. Patronage on the Bury line in October 2018 was 1.69% higher than it was in October 2017, at just over 
8.3 million passengers. 

3. During the last reporting period (16 September 2018 – 13 October 2018), there were 15 disruptions 
which affected services for more than 30 minutes on the network. 

4. Two events directly affected the Bury line: a police incident at Piccadilly Gardens and a medical 
emergency on board a tram at Piccadilly.

Metrolink – Early Bird

1. As part of the Mayor’s ‘Congestion Deal’ TfGM committed to “offer cheaper Metrolink fares for early 
morning travel, to encourage people to travel at quieter times.” 

2. The Mayor announced a series of measures to tackle congestion as part of the deal, including a pilot 
‘early bird’ Metrolink offer launched on 12 November 2018.

3. This is a pilot offer, and evaluation of take-up and value for money will be undertaken to inform a 
decision on whether to bring forward a more permanent early morning travel offer. 

4. There are two products available:
 Early Bird – travel before 07:30 for £1 (tickets expire at 07:30)
 Early Bird Plus – travel before 07:30, between 13:00 and 15:30, and after 19:00 for £3
5. The time restrictions on both products ensure that the journeys made using the products do not 

adversely impact full fare-paying customers during the periods of highest demand.
6. A marketing campaign is underway to promote the Early bird pilot.

Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB)

1. TravelSafe is a partnership led by GMP and TfGM with support from operators: Stagecoach, First 
Manchester and KeolisAmey Metrolink.

2. ASB incidents recorded during October/November traditionally increase as a result of: darker nights as 
the clocks change, October half-term and the run-up to Halloween/Bonfire Night.

Document Pack Page 159 Agenda Item 7



                                                                                         

2

3. A number of recent issues have been identified in Bury and TravelSafe are taking action through 
increased officer presence, use of CCTV and a trial of anti-graffiti coatings at the Radcliffe stop to tackle 
the issue of increasing graffiti.

Air Quality

1. Whilst air quality has been generally improving over time, certain pollutants remain a serious concern in 
many urban areas – particularly oxides of nitrogen (NOx) - mainly Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) - and 
particulate matter (PM).

2. Poor air quality is one of the biggest public health issues in the UK. It has been linked to cancer, asthma, 
stroke and heart disease, diabetes, obesity, and changes linked to dementia.

3. The 2017 National Air Quality Plan and its supplements identified areas within GM local authorities 
where action to reduce concentrations of NO2 to Legal Limit Values was needed.  These are Bolton, Bury, 
Manchester, Salford, Stockport, Tameside and Trafford and Oldham. 

4. However, our local modelling reveals a bigger issue, and one that affects all ten GM authorities.
5. GM is coordinating a plan for bringing NO2 to within legal limits in the timescales specified by 

Government.
6. The revised Defra plan places the burden of tackling NO2 on local authorities and lacks specifics on 

national action and funding.
7. We need a range of local and national measures to tackle this urgent public health issue.
8. Government must provide funding for targeted local scrappage schemes and other support for any of 

them to work. 

The Mayor’s Cycling and Walking Challenge Fund

1. In July, Chris Boardman, Greater Manchester’s Cycling and Walking Commissioner unveiled a bold new 
plan to create the UK’s largest city-region-wide cycling and walking network.

2. It will be made up of more than 1,000 miles of routes, including 75 miles of Dutch-style segregated bike 
lanes and there are plans for 1,400 new or upgraded crossings.

3. The plans have a combined cost of around £500 million over a ten-year period.
4. £160 million of Greater Manchester’s Transforming Cities fund is allocated to the project which brings 

the total spend on cycling and walking in Greater Manchester to around £15 per head for the next 
three years. 

5. Two Bury schemes have been approved for programme entry:
 16 new and upgraded crossings and junctions in Bury: This project will deliver a mix of new and 

upgraded junctions at key locations. The project is expected to cost in the region of £2.6 million. 
 Cycle parking facilities on the Bury Metrolink line: Covered Sheffield stands with lighting and CCTV will 

be installed in highly visible and accessible locations at the nine stops. The project is expected to cost in 
the region of £1.2 million, and be delivered by TfGM. 

6. TfGM and the Commissioner will be working closely with Bury Council to develop future schemes.

Document Pack Page 160



Joint Authority Questions

1. Greater Manchester Pensions Fund - Cllr Pickstone
Council the Council’s representative to the Greater Manchester Pensions Fund 
inform members why GMPF justify investing £989 million in companies involved 
in Fracking? (Source: Fossil Free UK). 

The Greater Manchester Pension Fund has not invested nearly a billion 
pounds in fracking. Such a statement is misleading and the Pension Fund 
is not aware of any direct investment in fracking. What has been referred 
to here, has probably been calculated by adding up all amounts in 
companies that are household names that provide fuel, such as BP and 
Centrica British Gas. 

The Fund has long identified climate change as a key risk and the question 
fails to recognise the significant work that the Greater Manchester 
Pension Fund is undertaking to deliver its obligations, whilst seeking to 
achieve the Paris Agreement goal of 100% of pension fund assets being 
compatible with net-zero emissions, by 2050. This is despite financial 
decarbonisation of the economy being a complex and challenging issue, 
particularly for long-term investors such as pension funds.

Significantly the Greater Manchester Pension Fund has been recognised 
as being the thirtieth best out of the World’s Top 500 Institutional 
Investors for taking account of climate change risk; and the second best 
of all Local Government Pension Schemes after the Environment Agency. 

It has also been acknowledged and recognised as being committed to the 
transition to a low carbon economy and supporting efforts to address 
climate change and by influencing and pushing for greater transparency 
on companies’ business models. The Greater Manchester Pension Fund 
continues to be the biggest local government pension investor in low-
carbon sources. It operates within a clear ethical framework and seeks to 
change the behaviours of the companies it invests in to become carbon 
neutral; whilst ensuring it protects the pensions of our members and 
reduces costs to taxpayers.

Friends of the Earth Manchester and Fossil Free GM were invited to the 
Greater Manchester Pension Fund’s first stakeholder “stewardship day” 
last year. This was the first in local government and where 80% of the 
Fund’s stakeholders agreed with the approach. The Pension Fund will 
continue to keep its “Responsible Investment Policy” under review, in 
order to bring it into line with the goals set out in the 2015 Paris 
Agreement on climate change

2. Greater Manchester Waste and Recycling Committee  - Cllr Pickstone
Could the Council’s representative to the Greater Manchester Waste and 
Recycling Committee inform members of what assurances are in place to ensure 
that the plastics recycled by residents are being safely recycled and no materials 
are dumped into the environment?

Document Pack Page 161



Answer: Cllr Quinn

Once a council vehicle has collected recycling from residents, it delivers 
the load to one of our transfer loading stations and then checked for 
contamination (items that would affect the ability to recycle the 
materials). If incorrect items are present, the site staff will take 
measures to remove them, to allow the load to go for processing. If the 
load is too contaminated, this waste material would be diverted to the 
Runcorn Energy from Waste plant, as a Refuse Derived Fuel, which is 
used to generate electricity.

The only type of plastics that can be recycled in Greater Manchester are 
plastic bottles Plastic bottles are collected in the comingled bin along 
with glass and metal cans. These are all sent to the Materials Recovery 
Facility in Sharston for sorting. Here the recycling is separated by 
different sorting technologies. Plastic bottles are sorted into different 
types – HDPE, PVC and PET – and then baled to be sent on for recycling.  
Bales of plastic bottles are currently sent to the Viridor recycling plant in 
Skelmersdale and are turned into plastic flake to be used in new 
products. The end market can and does change depending on demand 
for raw materials, at the moment, 100% is being reprocessed in the UK 
but sometimes this can change.  
Other types of plastic, such as plastic pots, tubs and trays, go in the 
residual waste bin. . This waste is processed as a Refuse Derived Fuel 
and sent to the Runcorn Energy from Waste plant which is used to 
generate electricity. Therefore no plastic waste is dumped.

Our contractor Viridor is also monitored closely by the Contract Services 
Team to ensure they are fully complying with waste management 
legislation. Litter picking is also carried out regularly in and around the 
site by the Viridor operatives to ensure any windblown material is 
contained. Contract monitors visit the sites to check the correct 
procedures and policies are being followed.

3. Greater Manchester Police and Crime Panel - Cllr S Wright
Could the Council’s representative on the Greater Manchester Police and Crime 
Panel inform members of trends of firework related anti-social behaviour around 
the recent bonfire night? 

Answer: Cllr Tariq:

As Members will know; as well as the fun and spectacle of the period 
around Bonfire night there is also an element that sets out to cause 
trouble. For a number of years there has been a campaign in the run-up 
to Bonfire night promoting responsible behaviour and highlighting the 
perils of not doing so.

This year the campaign was also supported through the BSafeBCool 
project which went into most secondary schools in the borough and 
provided messages about safety, including specific messaging about 

Document Pack Page 162



responsible behaviour at this time of the year. Feedback from this event 
has been extremely positive from both teachers and pupils and we will 
build on this next year,

This year the volume of incidents recorded by Police as ‘firework-
related’ in the period around Bonfire night was down 44% on the 
previous year and down 200% on Bonfire Night itself. This is 
encouraging, especially given that it came on the back of successive 
rises from previous years.

Unfortunately, the Fire Service don’t release their figures until next year 
and, given that in Bury deliberate fires were up 25% from 2016 to 2017, 
it will be interesting to see if the trend follows that of the Police. 
Another interesting statistic to note will be whether attacks on 
firefighters are up as they increased over 200% across Greater 
Manchester from 2016 to 2017.

We continue to take this issue seriously and will be looking to 
understand the trends when we have all of the data back and assess 
whether the new inputs have been a trigger for any decreases we have 
seen. As lead for this area I will report back but am pleased with the 
progress we have made in partnership with the Police and other 
services.

4. TFGM – Councillor Y Wright

People waiting at the bus stop outside Castle Leisure Centre often have their 
view of approaching buses obscured by one or even two coaches parked while 
waiting for school children in the centre having a swimming lesson.
A recent incident saw a man and a lady having to stand in the middle of the road 
in order to watch for the bus and make sure it stopped which is a very 
dangerous situation. This happens on a regular basis. Could the Council’s 
representative on GMPTA look at the feasibility of the  bus stop being moved 
further up Bolton street, outside the entrance to the East Lancs railway, leaving 
space further down for coaches with shorter and more direct access to the 
leisure centre for pupils.  

Answer: Cllr Bayley:

There is a previous enquiry from 2015 on this matter, where it was decided to 
retain the stop/ shelter where it is and advise the operators at the time (First and 
Rosso) to observe the stop, if visibility was obstructed by the coaches.

A site visit has been scheduled with Bury MBC/ Greater Manchester Police on the 
11 December to review the layout of the existing Bus Stop/ Coach parking outside 
Castle Leisure / ELR on Bolton St, Bury. The findings will be fed back to Councillor Y 
Wright following this meeting.

Document Pack Page 163



5. TFGM – Cllr Walmsley

Could the TfGM representative provide council with an update on the new 
Metrolink Early Bird ticketing initiative and are there any plans to extend 
provision in the new year? 

Answer: Cllr Bayley:

As part of the Mayor’s ‘Congestion Deal’ TfGM committed to “offer cheaper 
Metrolink fares for early morning travel, to encourage people to travel at 
quieter times.” This recognises the critical part that behaviour change and 
modal shift will have to tackle congestion.

The Mayor announced a series of measures to tackle congestion as part of 
the deal, including an ‘early bird’ Metrolink offer launched on 12 November 
2018.

This is a pilot offer, and evaluation of take-up and value for money will be 
undertaken to inform a decision on whether to bring forward a more 
permanent early morning travel offer. 

There are two products available:

 Early Bird – travel before 07:30 for £1 (tickets expire at 07:30)

 Early Bird Plus – travel before 07:30, between 13:00 and 15:30, and after 
19:00 for £3

The time restrictions on both products ensure that the journeys made using 
the products do not adversely impact full fare-paying customers during the 
periods of highest demand. 

A marketing campaign is underway to promote the Early bird pilot.

6. TFGM – Cllr Hayes

Can the TfGM representative advise whether bus operators are planning to put 
up bus fares in the New Year in common with previous years. 

Answer: Cllr Bayley:

Operators have advised that they are reviewing fares for the New Year, but the 
exact impact is as yet not know.

Document Pack Page 164



REPORT TO: COUNCIL

DATE:   28th NOVEMBER 2018

SUBJECT: LOCAL SCHEME OF COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT

REPORT FROM: COUNCILLOR O’BRIEN, PORTFOLIO HOLDER 
FOR FINANCE & HOUSING

CONTACT OFFICER: STEVE KENYON , INTERIM EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES AND REGULATION

TYPE OF DECISION: COUNCIL

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION/STATUS:

The report is for publication.

SUMMARY: The report provides Members with an up-date on the 
local Council Tax Support scheme and sets out 
recommendations to continue to deliver a local 
scheme within the available budget. 

OPTIONS & RECOMMENDED 
OPTION

Council is asked to agree that the Scheme introduced 
with effect from 1st April 2018 is extended for the 
year 1st April 2019 to 31st March 2020 with one 
amendment.

IMPLICATIONS:

Corporate Aims/Policy 
Framework:

Do the proposals accord with the Policy 
Framework? Yes

Statement by the S151 Officer:
Financial Implications and Risk 

The financial implications arising from the report 
are centered on the large cut in Government 

1

Agenda
Item

REPORT FOR INFORMATION

Document Pack Page 165 Agenda Item 8



Considerations: funding that accompanied the localisation of 
Council Tax support.  The existing scheme was 
designed to provide as much protection as 
possible for the most vulnerable claimants whilst 
staying within the fixed budget set by the 
Government in 2013.

The performance of the scheme is closely 
monitored and to date caseload and expenditure 
are within anticipated projections. However, 
given the fixed nature of the government grant to 
fund the scheme, the risk continues that 
increased take up or reductions to the income of 
existing claimants will have a direct impact on the 
authority.  

It is strongly recommended that Members do not 
seek to absorb the loss of Government funding 
from within existing resources due to pressures 
on the Council’s budget in future years.    

Statement by Executive Director 
of Resources:

In considering the nature of the local scheme, it 
is important to recognise that collecting 
increased, or any, Council Tax from people who 
previously had higher levels of Council Tax 
Support is both challenging and costly. However, 
the comment by the s151 Officer regarding the 
lack of available existing resources to cover 
the ongoing funding cut is fully supported.

Equality/Diversity implications: An Equality Impact Assessment was completed in 
respect of the changes implemented in April 
2017, as no significant changes are proposed for 
April 2019 this remains valid.

Considered by Monitoring 
Officer:

It is the duty of the Council to have localised
Council Tax Support, in the form of a council tax 
reduction, in place by 31 January in each year.
The enabling provisions are contained in section 
10 of the Local Government Finance Act 2012,
This allows the Council  to use its discretion to 
design schemes for support for those not of
pension age but contains requirements that 
certain elements must be included in all schemes.

The detail of the elements which must be 
included in local council tax reductions schemes 
are included in The Council Tax Reduction 
Schemes (Prescribed Requirements Scheme) 
(England) Regulations 2012. 
Consultation has been undertaken in each year 
that the scheme has changed. Members must 
have “due regard” to any equality issues and 

2

Document Pack Page 166



these are set out in the Equality Impact 
Assessment of last year. 

Wards Affected: All

Scrutiny Interest: Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

TRACKING/PROCESS DIRECTOR: Steve Kenyon 

Chief Executive/
Senior Leadership 

Team

Cabinet 
Member/Chair

Ward Members Partners

No Yes

Scrutiny 
Committee

Committee Council

No 28/11/18

1.0   BACKGROUND 

1.1 The report outlines the background, current scheme, context of overall Welfare 
Reform and recommendations for delivering a local scheme of Council Tax 
Support with effect from April 2019. 

2.0  CHANGES TO THE SCHEME

2.1 The current local scheme was introduced in Bury from April 2013. Prior to this, a 
national scheme was in place: Council Tax Benefit. This was administered by local 
authorities but prescribed in extensive detail by the Department for Work and 
Pensions. Council Tax Benefit paid the full liability for Council Tax for the poorest 
claimants. Local authorities were, to all intents and purposes, fully funded by 
DWP for their Council Tax benefit expenditure: local authorities therefore did not 
carry the risk of changing caseloads or changes in the level of deprivation. 

2.2 The abolition of Council Tax Benefit and introduction of local schemes included the 
provision that the grant payable to Councils was set at 90% of the estimated 
spend on Council Tax Benefit in 2012/13. This meant that Councils had to address 
a 10% cut in the funding they received.  Furthermore, the level of support was 
fixed for 7 years meaning that Councils will have to bear the risk of cost of 
increases and any increases in claimant numbers. 

2.3 Before agreeing a scheme the Council had a duty to consult with major precepting 
authorities and such persons it considers to have an interest in the scheme.

2.4 The key issues the Council faced as a result of the introduction of local schemes 
were:

 The funding to be provided for the new provision was cut by 10%.

3

Document Pack Page 167



 The Government’s changes did not allow Councils complete freedom in the 
design of their schemes and it was stipulated that the elderly were to be 
protected. This provision remains and meant that as around 45% of Bury’s 
benefit caseload were classed as elderly the cuts for working age claimants 
had to be higher.  In Bury, protecting pensioner claimants means the 
percentage cuts for working age claimants was estimated to fall within the 
range of 15%-20%.

 The risk of changing caseloads was transferred to local authorities i.e. 
funding had to be determined in advance, not based on actual spend. 

3.0 LOCALISED COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT 

3.1 The scheme which was established in Bury in 2013, following consultation, 
reflected the Council’s priority in considering the needs of vulnerable people and 
aimed to mitigate the detrimental impact it would have on residents who would 
face increased Council Tax due to restrictions on the amount of Council Tax 
Support they would be entitled to.

 
3.2 The 2013 scheme successfully delivered on the above objectives whilst remaining 

within the available funding limits.  However due to increases in Council Tax 
during the preceding years by 2017 the fixed budget was no longer capable of 
covering the schemes costs.  In 2017 the scheme was amended so that the 
maximum amount that any Working age claim could receive was 80% of the liable 
Council Tax charge.

    

4.0 COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2019/2020
 
4.1 The Council is required to review and amend its scheme annually. 
 
4.2 In doing this it is necessary to consider a variety of factors:

 Performance of the scheme 
 The level, and adequacy, of Government funding for 2019/20
 The Council’s overall financial position
 Options for changing the scheme if required
 The outcome of previous consultation

4.3 The operation of the scheme appears to be meeting its objectives during the 
financial year 2018/19 although from a purely financial perspective this can vary 
and fluctuate throughout the year. However, take-up and Council Tax collection 
assumptions are being closely monitored.  The 80% maximum award has led to 
an increase in Council Tax accounts entering recovery, working practices are 
being amended to try and minimize the number of these accounts that proceed 
to recovery through the courts and beyond.  

4.4 Government funding for Year 7, 2019/20, remains the same as for Year 1 
reflecting the 10% cut in the level of support provided in 2012/13.  As funding is 
fixed consideration has therefore to be given to whether further cuts to 
the existing scheme need to be made. Forecasts suggest that expenditure on the 
scheme is within the budget available and so no changes are required for the year 
2019/20.

4

Document Pack Page 168



5.0 CONSULTATION

5.1 Consultation was carried out on a change that enabled a person making a claim for 
Universal Credit to be treated as having made a claim for Council Tax Support at 
the same time.

This meant that:

 a person claiming benefits, because they have come out of work for 
example, would not have to supply the same information twice

 the start date of a claim for Council Tax Support will match that of a claim 
for Universal Credit.

 

6.0 WELFARE REFORM CONTEXT AND AGENDA
 
6.1 The changes to Council Tax Benefit/Support form part of a wider series of changes 

that make up the Government`s welfare reform agenda and reform of local 
government finance. Bury Council have sought to alleviate the impact of Welfare 
Reform where possible by working with residents and our local partners. 

6.2 In July of 2018 Universal Credit Full Service was rolled out across the majority of 
the Bury Council area.  This has resulted in an increased strain on the 
administration of the Council Tax Support scheme and difficulties in residents 
understanding the lack of interaction between DWP UC and the Council.  

 
   
6.3 A Discretionary Council Tax fund has been available for customers who may be 

experiencing significant hardship often as a result of multiple changes to the 
welfare system or complex circumstances, Members are requested to agree a 
budget of £100k for the year 2018/19. 

7.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
7.1 The Council has to review the operation and content of its Council Tax Support 

scheme on an annual basis.
 
7.2 It is recommended that the scheme continue unchanged for the year 2019/20. 
 
7.3 The performance of the scheme continues to be closely monitored and will be 

reviewed and amended as appropriate on an annual basis. 
 

COUNCILLOR O’BRIEN
DEPUTY LEADER & CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE & HOUSING

5

Document Pack Page 169



List of Background Papers:-

None

Contact Details:-

Steve Kenyon, Interim Executive Director of Resources and Regulation: Tel 0161 253 5002: 
E-mail  s.kenyon@bury.gov.uk 

Ian Davenport, Acting Head of Customer Support and Collections; Tel 0161 253 7087; E-mail 
i.davenport@bury.gov.uk

6

Document Pack Page 170


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	5 RECOMMENDATIONS OF CABINET AND COUNCIL COMMITTEES
	Risk Management Annual Report 2017-18
	Mid year report 1819 FINAL
	Final CSP
	Bury Final Community Safety Plan

	6 LEADER' STATEMENT AND CABINET QUESTION TIME
	7 JOINT AUTHORITIES - REPORT BY THE COUNCIL'S REPRESENTATIVE AND QUESTIONS
	Joint Authority Questions and answers

	8 COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME

